KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY KUMASI

COLLEGE OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY

KNUST

COMPARATIVE DIAGNOSIS OF *ESCHERICHIA COLI*-INDUCED URINARY TRACT INFECTION USING DIPSTICK, MICROBIOLOGICAL CULTURING AND PCR METHODS IN SCHOOL-GOING ADOLESCENTS



SAMUEL NKANSAH DARKO

NOVEMBER, 2012

KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY KUMASI

COLLEGE OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY

COMPARATIVE DIAGNOSIS OF *ESCHERICHIA COLI*-INDUCED URINARY TRACT INFECTION USING DIPSTICK, MICROBIOLOGICAL CULTURING AND PCR METHODS IN SCHOOL-GOING ADOLESCENTS

THIS DISSERTATION IS PRESENTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF AN M.Sc. DEGREE IN BIOTECHNOLOGY

BY

SAMUEL NKANSAH DARKO

14

NOVEMBER, 2012

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis is the outcome of my own original research and that, it has neither in part nor whole, been presented for another degree in this university or elsewhere.

Candidate's Name (PG 5012110)	Signature	Date
Certified by	KNUST	
Supervisor	Signature	Date
Certified by Supervisor	Signature	Date
Certified by		
Head of Department	Signature	Date
	J SANE NO	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My foremost gratitude goes to the Almighty God, for His inspiration and sustenance. I am also grateful to my family and Miss Lois Frimpong-Manso, for their support and prayers which have had a positive impact on me during this period.

My sincere thanks go to my supervisors, Dr. Ir. Peter Twumasi and Dr. Kwabena Nsiah, for their direction and correction throughout this project. I am also indebted to Mr. Osei-Tutu, Mr. Eric Brenya and the Kirkhouse Trust (CRIG), Henry Sintim Yabbey and Miss Audrey Owusu-Sarkodie, for their assistance at the Microbiology and Biotechnology laboratories.

Lastly, I wish to express my sincere thanks to Charles Apprey, Miss Mina Mensah and Mr. Michael Adu-Frimpong, for their support in diverse ways, in making this project a success.



ABSTRACT

Urinary tract infection (UTI) poses serious future clinical repercussions, such as hypertension, anaemia, kidney failure and death. Therefore, there is the need for the early detection and diagnosis of UTI. Currently, the use of the standard microbiological culture diagnostic method is hindered by the microbial tendency of being viable but non-culturable. On the other hand, direct Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) has proven to be more sensitive in detecting pathogens in various biological samples, although interference by specimen components and the possibility of contamination are some challenges. This work was thus aimed at the design of a simple and reliable PCR protocol for detecting uropathogens and comparing it with dipstick and culture, using *Escherichia coli* as the indicator uropathogen. This study, a cross-sectional one, involved the collection of urine samples from 272 adolescent students, aged between 13 and 18 years. The PCR protocol targeted a more specific pap C gene for fimbriae formation and the bacteriocin usp gene sequences for amplification. A general prevalence of 30.9% UTI was found. Using a sub-population made up of 195 subjects, for the comparative diagnosis of the three methods, the prevalence were 42.1%, 39.8% and 72.7% for dipstick, microbiological culturing and PCR respectively. PCR had a higher sensitivity of 71% and Receiver Operator Characteristic curve area of 0.7231± 0.0262, p < 0.0001, compared to the microbiological culture method. In addition, the ROC curve area for PCR was significantly higher than dipstick $(0.7205 \pm 0.0262, p < 0.0001)$ indicating PCR's superiority as a diagnostic tool. On the other hand, there was no statistical difference between the microbiological culturing method and dipstick as diagnostic tools $(0.5026 \pm 0.02927, p = 0.9302)$. The leukocyte esterase parameter in the dipstick method was found to be more useful to the physician in making diagnosis with a positive predictive value of 52% and a negative predictive value of 76%. The usp gene was also found to be more significantly distributed in urine isolates than pap C with P value of 0.0020. This suggests that most of the strains of *Escherichia coli* implicated in UTI in the sample population employ more of bacteriocin production to compete with other microbes in the urinary tract than the production of adhesion structures. The PCR is therefore, a good complementary tool for diagnosis of UTI.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSi
ABSTRACTii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiv
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES vii
CHAPTER ONE1
1.0 INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Problem Statement
1.2 Justification
1.3 Main Objective4
CHAPTER TWO
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Urinary tract infections
2.1.1 Epidemiology
2.1.2 Aetiology
2.2 Clinical manifestations of urinary tract infections
2.2.1 Asymptomatic bacteriuria
2.2.2 Cystitis
2.2.3 Acute Pyelonephritis
2.3 Escherichia coli
2.3.1 Enteric/diarrhoea E. coli
2.3.1.1 Enteropathogenic E. coli
2.3.1.2 Enterohaemorrhagic E. coli
2.3.1.3 Enterotoxigenic E. coli
2.3.1.4 Enteroaggregative <i>E. coli</i>
2.3.1.5 Enteroinvasive E. coli
2.3.1.6 Diffused adherent E. coli
2.3.2 Extra-intestinal <i>E. coli</i>
2.3.2.1 Uropathogenic E. coli

2.3.3 Virulence factors	14
2.3.3.1 Adherence	15
2.3.3.1.1 Mannose resistant adhesins	15
2.3.3.1.1.1 P fimbriae	16
2.3.3.1.1.2 X adhesins	17
2.3.3.1.1.3 S fimbriae	18
2.3.3.1.1.4 Other X adhesins	18
2.3.3.1.2 Mannose-sensitive adhesins	18
2.3.3.1.2.1 Type 1 fimbriae	18
2.3.3.2 Iron complexing structures/ siderophores	19
2.3.3.2.1 Aerobactin/Hydroxamate siderophore	20
2.3.3.2.2 Enterobactin siderophore	21
2.3.3.3 Toxin genes	22
2.3.3.1 Haemolysin	22
2.3.3.3.2 Cytotoxic necrotizing factor 1(CNF-1)	23
2.3.3.3.3 usp Protein	24
2.4 Detection of Urinary Tract Infection	25
2.4.1 Dipstick Urinalysis	25
2.4.1.1 Parameters determined by dipstick	26
2.4.1.1.1 Haematuria	26
2.4.1.1.2 Proteinuria	26
2.4.1.1.3 Nitrites	27
2.4.1.1.4 Leukocyte Esterase	27
2.4.1.1.5 Diagnostic indicators of UTI in dipstick urinalysis	28
2.4.1.2 Usefulness of diagnostic tests	29
2.4.1.2.1 Sensitivity	29
2.4.1.2.2 Specificity	29
2.4.1.2.3 Limitations	30
2.4.1.2.5 Positive predictive value (PPV)	30
2.4.1.2.6 Negative predictive value (NPV)	30
2.4.1.2.7 Receiver Operator Characteristic (ROC) Curves	30
2.4.2 Microbiological Culture	31
2.4.3 Polymerase Chain Reaction	32
2.4.4 Prevalence of Urinary Tract Infection in West Africa and Ghana.	34

CHAPTER THREE	
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Materials	
3.1.1 Study site	
3.1.2 Recruitment	
3.2 Collection of samples	
3.2.1 Inclusion criteria.	
3.2.2 Exclusion criteria	
3.3 Urine dipstick	
3.4 Microbiological Culture Method	
3.5 PCR method	
3.5.1 Preparation of bacterial DNA.	
3.5.2 Amplification procedure	
3.5.3 Scoring of PCR products	
3.6 Statistical Analysis	
3.7 Ethical clearance	
CHAPTER FOUR	40
4.0 RESULTS	40
4.1 Prevalence of UTI	40
4.2 Dipstick test	43
4.3 Culturing of microbes.	43
4.4 PCR results	45
4.5 Comparison of diagnostic methods	48
CHADTED EINE	50
CHAI IER FIVE	

APPENDICES	74
REFERENCES	57
5.2 RECOMMENDATIONS	56
5.1 CONCLUSIONS	55

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Pathotypes of entero- <i>E. coli</i>
Figure 2: Interaction of uropathogenic <i>E. coli</i> with host tissue14
Figure 3: Mechanism of UTI caused by uropathogenic <i>E. coli</i>
Figure 4: Urinalysis dipstick showing positive nitrite test
Figure 5: A petri dish showing colonies of <i>E. coli</i> , growing on Salmonella Shigella agar42
Figure 6: An ethidium bromide-stained agarose gel electrophoregram of amplified <i>usp</i> genes
of uropathogenic E. coli DNA of different template preparation46
Figure 7: An ethidium bromide-stained agarose gel electrophoregram of amplified $papC$
genes in uropathogenic E. coli from UTI samples46
Figure 8: Distribution of virulence genes in <i>E. coli</i> isolates based on sex47
Figure 9: Mean number of positive tests for the three diagnostic methods47
Figure 10: Sensitivities and specificities of parameters, compared with standard culture used
for detecting UTI by Escherichia coli
Figure 11: Receiver operator characteristics of the diagnostic methods with respect to ages of
participants and number of positive UTI detections



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Causes of false positive and false negative of urine dipstick test
Table 2: Sensitivity and specificity of dipstick components in urinalysis
Table 3: Overall prevalence of UTI caused by uropathogenic E. coli using the standard
microbiological culture method41
Table 4: Various parameters determined for a sub-population of 195 subjects. 41
Table 5: Prevalence of uropathogenic <i>E. coli</i> infection stratified by age in both males and
females based on positive tests for leukocyte esterase and/or nitrite parameters of dipstick
method41
Table 6: Prevalence of uropathogenic E. coli infection stratified by age in both males and
females using culture method
Table 7: Prevalence of uropathogenic <i>E. coli</i> stratified by age in both males and females
based on detection of <i>papC</i> and/or <i>usp</i> genes using PCR method44
Table 8: Performance characteristics of dipstick and PCR using culture as standard



CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Microorganisms form a bulk of the earth's biomass and their ability to adapt to newly found environments makes them beneficial or pathogenic (Singh *et al.*, 2009). Many human diseases are as a result of infections caused by bacteria pathogens, either external or internal of the human host. One of such bacterial infection is the Urinary Tract Infection (UTI), involving the presence of bacteria in the urinary tract (UT),which is naturally sterile (Zorc *et al.*, 2005).UTI mostly occurs in patients with anatomically and functionally normal UT and usually results from spontaneous ascent of bacteria from the urethra to the bladder. Occasionally, the bacteria progresses to the kidney and bloodstream. However, since asymptomatic colonization of the UT can occur, other features such as the presence of inflammatory markers or follow-up cultures are needed to correctly diagnose a person with UTI.

Bacteria colonization of the UT is predominantly caused by Gram-negative species, such as *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella*, *Proteus* and *Pseudomonas* and rarely, by Gram-positive organisms such as haemolytic *Streptococci* and *Staphylococcus saprophyticus* (Cheesbrough, 2006).

Global records on the disease show that among children, the infection is more common in young girls, except in the neonatal age group where boys predominate (Foxman, 2002). It is also estimated that about 20% of women develop an UTI during their lifetime; the incidence increases at puberty and remains high throughout adult life (Hooton *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, UTIs account for approximately 23% of all hospital-acquired infections (Emmerson *et al.*, 1996). In Ghana, 7.3% of pregnant women attending antenatal care have been identified to have significant bacteriuria (presence of bacteria in urine). *E. coli* as dominant bacteria isolate, account for about 37% of all cases (Turpin *et al.*, 2007).

Unfortunately, in Ghana there is paucity of UTI prevalence data for other categories of the population, aside pregnant women.

The most commonly employed technique worldwide for detecting UTI is by using diagnostic dipstick, which measures parameters like protein, leukocyte esterase, blood and nitrate reductase levels (WHO, 2005). A more reliable but time-consuming technique of bacterial culturing is preferred, involving the use of appropriate media for selected bacterial growth (Zorc *et al.*, 2005). However, this microbiological assay has the limitation of requiring a minimum of 48 hours to make observations from the culture plates, to ascertain the presence and levels of bacteriuria. Furthermore, the inability of this technique to detect and identify viable but non-culturable microbes may exclude some pathogenic bacteria, which might later cause symptomatic bacteriuria (Colwell, 2000). The occurrence of such viable but non-culturable microbes has been reported for many Gram-negative bacteria, including human pathogenic *E. coli* which is the commonest pathogen, causing more than 80% of UTIs (Ronald, 2003). Therefore, there is the need for a more reliable and faster method for UTI diagnosis.

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is a versatile and sensitive molecular technique for amplification of minute quantities of cellular DNA (template), using a pair of primers at both ends of target region of the DNA involved. This sensitive method can amplify DNA of a single cell to a level that can be visualized on electrophoretic gels. Due to the high specificity, PCR is not only effective in detecting species of microorganisms, but it also identifies their various strains. Since the method requires minute quantities of template DNA, it has the potential to effectively detect infectious microbes, especially non-culturable bacteria or microbes in biological samples. Gene sequencing has made it possible to identify allelic gene sequences and their effects on gene expression of various pathogenic bacteria. Studies on specific genes responsible for pathogenicity of uropathogenic *E. coli* strains have revealed the genes belong to independent clusters, organized as operons (Le Bouguenec, 1992). These virulence genes have been classified variously as adhesive, toxic or iron acquisition genes. Adhesion-mediated virulence, caused by the *pap* adhesin gene is known to be prevalent in many uropathogenic strains of *E. coli* (Marrs *et al.*, 2005). The *usp* gene, found to be homologous to a toxin gene of *Vibrio cholerae* is also a dominant marker for detecting uropathogenic strains of *E. coli* in some studies in different geographical locations (Kurazono *et al.*, 2000). These unique markers and others, present a great potential for developing PCR protocol to assess microbiological activities in urine samples.

However, the application of PCR to clinical specimens has some potential pitfalls, due to the susceptibility of PCR to inhibitors, contamination and experimental conditions (Yamamoto, 2002).

1.1 Problem Statement

The conventional means of diagnosing UTI has long been the use of urine culture and antibiotic sensitivity testing. This microbiological technique has time limitation, requiring 2 to 3 days, which delays commencement of any treatment intervention. As a common practice, in the absence of supportive laboratory evidence, due to lack of a high resolving and fast laboratory diagnosis to detect microbial infection, clinicians usually initiate empirical antibiotic treatments. But such an approach could also unnecessarily expose patients to antibiotics with little or no success in the containment of infections. Therefore, a faster, more sensitive and specific diagnostic tool for microbial detection in urine samples for assessing UTI is required.

1.2 Justification

The PCR has proven to be a powerful and rapid tool for amplifying and detecting minute quantities of DNA in various biological samples. It takes a maximum of six hours to obtain results. Small amounts (micrograms or nanograms) of samples are needed to detect microorganisms present. The diagnostic uniqueness of PCR is the ability to detect some pathogens that are undetectable by microbiological culturing methods. Specimens such as blood, sputum, cerebrospinal fluid and urine have been successfully screened for bacteria and other microbes, using the PCR technique (Yamamoto, 2002; Starcic-Erjavec *et al.*, 2008).

1.3 Main Objective

To determine the prevalence of UTI caused by *E. coli*, using different diagnostic tools within a population of school-going adolescents in Kumasi

1.4 Specific Objectives

- To use dipstick and classical microbiological culturing method to determine presence of *E. coli* in urine of subjects
- To design a PCR assay, based on dominant virulence genes (*pap* and *usp*) of uropathogenic *E. coli* strains for diagnosis of Urinary Tract Infection.

SANE N

• To determine the performance characteristics of the diagnostic methods.

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Urinary tract infections

Urinary tract infection (UTI) is the presence of microorganisms, predominantly bacteria, in the urinary tract, which is usually sterile (Zorc *et al.*, 2005). These uropathogens generally infect cells in the urinary tract by initial attachment and subsequent ascension from the urethra, to the bladder, kidney and through the systemic circulation, causing bacteraemia, as a result of the renal cells being compromised (Kaper *et al.*, 2004). Uropathogenic organisms are more likely to colonize anatomically and functionally normal urinary tracts; however individuals with obstructed and abnormal urinary tract structures have a higher risk of UTI (Zorc *et al.*, 2005). Infections of the lower urinary tract, is a cause of morbidity, with increasing incidence of urinary tract infections predisposing the host to more severe renal cell damage (Crain and Gerschel, 1990). The more severe renal damage frequently leads to renal scarring and hypertension with high mortality rate (Jacobson *et al.*, 1989). Some studies confirm individuals with compromised immune systems like diabetics, are more susceptible to urinary tract infections (Deresinski, 1995; Geerlings *et al.*, 2000).

2.1.1 Epidemiology

Prevalence of urinary tract infections is dependent on factors like gender, age, disease, race and nutritional status. Females are generally more predisposed to renal infections, compared to males, except at the extremes of early childhood and geriatric stage (Akinkugbe *et al.*, 1973). This is basically due to the shorter length of the urethra in females and its closeness to the excreta passage, which is a source of pathogens that can colonize the urethra. Again, sexual intercourse, pregnancy and childbirth contribute to the increase in UTI in females (Duerden *et al.*, 1990; Geerlings *et al.*, 2000). It is estimated that about 50% of all women are likely to experience an UTI in their lifetime (Foxman *et al.*, 2000).

At the first three months after birth, boys have a higher UTI prevalence of 2.7% as compared to 0.7% in girls (Riccabona, 2003). However, just before puberty, girls are at higher risk with 3-5% UTI prevalence while it remains unchanged at 2.7% among males of the same age (Hoberman *et al.*, 1993; Hoberman and Wald, 1997). During the pubertal stage and adulthood, females maintain a higher prevalence than males (Hooton *et al.*, 2000). Other studies indicate a 10-12 fold increase in risk of UTI in uncircumcised male infants and this is thought to be likely due to the colonization of the mucosal surface of the foreskin with bacteria (Wiswell and Roscelli, 1986; Roberts and Akintemi, 1999; Wiswell, 2000).

There has been conflicting views concerning the prevalence of UTI and diseases that lead to a compromise in the immune system. Individuals with compromised immune systems, as a result of diseases like diabetes mellitus were thought to be more predisposed to UTI (Boyko *et al.*, 2005). However, recent works disprove this assertion (Geerlings *et al.*, 2000; Rizk *et al.*, 2001; Sotiropoulos *et al.*, 2005).

White children have been estimated to have a relatively higher incidence, compared to black children (Shaw *et al.*, 1998). Shaw *et al* (1998) identified the prevalence of UTI in white children to be higher in both sexes with white girls having rates as high as 16-17 %. This racial difference in UTI prevalence among girls is attributed to genetic differences in secretion of carbohydrates like mannose that inhibit the adherence of bacteria to the urinary tract. White girls have been found to lack the gene responsible for the secretion of these carbohydrates (Sheinfeld *et al.*, 1989; Jantausch *et al.*, 1994).

Individuals, especially children who are malnourished are more susceptible to UTI. Various studies in developing countries have presented data that indicate the prevalence of UTI to be 8-35 % higher in malnourished children (Banapurmath and Jayamony, 1994; Reed and Wegerhoff, 1995; Bagga *et al.*, 2003). The severity of malnourishment also has a strong

correlation with the level of bacteriuria and this is thought to be due to a weakened immune system which is overwhelmed by infections (Bagga *et al.*, 2003).

2.1.2 Aetiology

Most urinary tract infections are caused by bacteria, although viruses, fungi and some other parasites do infect the urinary tract of mostly immuno-compromised individuals (Zorc *et al.*, 2005). Gram-negative bacteria are the commonest species of bacteria associated with UTI. *Escherichia coli, Klebsiella, Proteus* and *Pseudomonas* form the predominant gram-negative bacterial, with haemolytic *Streptococei* and *Staphylococcus saprophyticus* comprising the common gram-positive species isolated in UTIs (Orenstein and Wong, 1999; Lutters and Vogt, 2000). Some aerobic gram-negative bacteria of the family Enterobacteriaceae, including *Salmonella* and *Citrobacter* have been found in UTI (Ejaz *et al.*, 2006). *Escherichia coli* is the commonest bacteria isolate detected in UTI, accounting for 70 to 90 % of all infections in both children and adults, in developed countries (Schalger, 2001; Riccabona, 2003). This has a positive correlation with UTI isolates in developing countries, although *Escherichia coli* accounts for about 39 % of infections (Longe *et al.*, 1984). Further studies have shown that the prevalence of *Escherichia coli* in UTI isolates is independent of the individual's immuno-competence status (Asharam *et al.*, 2003).

2.2 Clinical Manifestations of Urinary tract infections

There are varying clinical manifestations, including asymptomatic bacteriuria, cystitis and acute pyelonephritis

2.2.1 Asymptomatic bacteriuria

This clinical manifestation of urinary tract infection is commonly associated with females; from the pubertal to adult stages. Asymptomatic bacteriuria has been found to have 4 to 6% prevalence in healthy young adults with an increase to 20% in ambulatory elderly adults

(Hooton *et al.*, 2000). It is a condition characterized by a positive urine culture test without the female individual experiencing common infection symptoms, such as fevers and especially, abdominal or flank pains, linked to urinary tract infections. Asymptomatic bacteriuria has also been found in some studies to be facilitated by diabetes mellitus in female subjects, as a result of glucosuria (Patterson and Andrriole, 1987; Lucas and Cunningham, 1993). Contraction of asymptomatic bacteriuria in diabetic females is further compounded by other risk factors, such as sexual intercourse, the duration of diabetes and its complications and insulin use. Pregnant women are mainly predisposed to asymptomatic bacteriuria, as they experience a decrease in immuno-competence, coupled with risk factors, such as sexual intercourse, which permits both commensal and non-commensal bacteria to colonize and multiply in the urogenital canals (Scott *et al.*, 1990). Although this condition is benign, some researchers suggest that it might progress to symptomatic if not diagnosed, and in pregnant women might lead to pyelonephritis, premature births and higher foetal mortalities (Nicolle, 1994; Connolly and Thorp, 1999; Delzelle and Leferre, 2000).

2.2.2 Cystitis

This is the most prevalent UTI found in women, although not absent in men (Hanno, 2007). Cystitis is localized in the bladder and can lead to the more complicated acute pyelonephritis due to the continual ascension of causative microorganisms through the ureter into the kidney, with the aid of adherence structures (Ottem *et al.*, 2007). Symptoms, such as suprapubic pain, abdominal or flank pains, urine incontinence and malodorous urine have been associated with cystitis (Zorc *et al.*, 2005). Individuals with cystitis could also experience dysuria, urgency and change in frequency of urination (Rabin *et al.*, 2000). However, fever has not been linked with this condition and is known not to cause any renal injury.

2.2.3 Acute Pyelonephritis

Pyelonephritis is a progressed result of urinary tract infection due to the ascending of bacteria that have colonized the urethra and the bladder (Bass *et al.*, 2003). This is an upper urinary tract infection, involving the ureter, collecting system and finally, the renal parenchyma (Bergeron, 1995). The ability of uropathogens to cause upper tract infections has been attributed to bacteria adhesion, virulence factors and motility, coupled with the host's anatomic, humoral and genetic factors (Kaper *et al.*, 2004). Acute pyelonephritis is commonly associated with symptoms such as flank and abdominal pains, fevers and chills. However, children may express non-specific symptoms, such as poor feeding, irritability and jaundice in newborns.

2.3 Escherichia coli

Escherichia coli (*E. coli*) are a Gram negative lactose fermenting bacillus found mainly in the gastrointestinal tract of humans and other mammals. This microorganism can colonize the peri-urethral region of infants a few hours after birth (Linshaw, 1996). *E. coli* is mainly a commensal, cohabiting with its animal host (Scott *et al.*, 1990). Several strains of this organism exist without causing disease, except when found in individuals with immuno-compromised conditions, such as diabetes mellitus or when the gastrointestinal tract has been breached as in peritonitis (Epoke *et al.*, 2000). The bacteria successfully persist in the mucosal layer of the mammalian colon and form the most abundant facultative anaerobes in the human microflora (Kaper *et al.*, 2004).

There are two proposed models for the mechanisms that enable *E. coli* to successfully occupy the colon as its niche. The first model suggests the more efficient utilization of gluconate in the colon than other resident microbes and thus dominating the niche (Sweeney *et al.*, 1996). A more recent model is based on the ability of several clones of the bacterium acquiring specific virulence factors, giving them the ability to adapt to various biological environments and cause several diseases (Marrs *et al.*, 2005). However, only a few of the pathogenic *E. coli* with some combinations of these virulence factors turn to be successful in causing disease in healthy individuals (Kaper *et al.*, 2004).

E. coli is a diverse species of bacteria grouped into two subsets; enteric/diarrhoea causing and the extra-intestinal disease causing type, including urinary tract infection. These subsets can further be divided into groups, based on the use of specific combinations of virulence factors, the molecular mechanisms employed in infections and also occasional peculiar symptoms associated with the diseases caused. Such groups are termed pathotypes (Marrs *et al.*, 2005).

2.3.1 Enteric/diarrhoea E. coli

Six different pathotypes of *E. coli*, known to cause diarrhoea have been identified. These are the enteropathogenic (EPEC), enterohaemorrhagic (EHEC), enterotoxigenic (ETEC), enteroaggregative (EAEC), enteroinvasive (EIEC) and diffused adherence (DAEC) *E. coli* (Kaper *et al.*, 2004; Marrs *et al.*, 2005).

2.3.1.1 Enteropathogenic E. coli

This pathotype of enteric *E. coli* has been tagged as the most important cause of potential fatal infant diarrhoea (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). This pathotype causes diarrhoea by attaching and effacing; having intimate adherence to the intestinal epithelial cells and inducing drastic change in the cytoskeleton of these cells. The condition is further enhanced by the accumulation of the polymerized protein, actin, beneath the attached bacterium, leading to the formation of a pedestal-like structure. A 35-kb pathogenicity island, called the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) is responsible for this pathogenic trait (McDaniel *et al.*, 1995). Homologues of the LEE have also been detected in other pathogens in humans, including the EHEC. The LEE also encodes the protein, intimin, which serves as a ligand for epithelial cell attachment and further stimulates T-helper cell response (Jerse *et al.*, 1990; Higgins *et al.*,

1999). However, the mechanism for causing diarrhoea is not well understood and has been attributed to active ion secretion, increased intestinal permeability, intestinal inflammation or loss of absorptive surface (Nataro and Kaper, 1998).

2.3.1.2 Enterohaemorrhagic E. coli

Bloody diarrhoea which requires an extremely low *E. coli* infectious dose has been associated with enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* (Kaper *et al.*, 2004). The key virulence factor used by EHEC is the *Stx*, also known as the verocytotoxin (VT). It consists of five identical B subunits and a single A subunit. The B subunits bind the holotoxin to the glycolipid receptors on target cells, while the A subunit cleaves ribosomal RNA, inhibiting protein synthesis (Melton-Celsa and O'Brien, 1998). *Stx* is produced in the colon, where it mediates local damage, which results in bloody diarrhoea, haemorrhagic colitis and intestinal perforation. This factor travels by blood transport to the kidney where it damages renal endothelial cells and leads to inflammation (Andreoli *et al.*, 2002).

2.3.1.3 Enterotoxigenic E. coli

ETEC causes watery diarrhoea, through colonizing of the mucosa of the small intestine and activating synthesis of enterotoxins, leading to intestinal secretions (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). These enterotoxins are either heat-labile (LT) or heat-stable (ST), with the heat-labile related to the cholera enterotoxin of *Vibrio cholerae* (Spangler, 1992). The LT enterotoxin transfers ADP-ribosyl moiety from NAD to the α subunit of the regulatory G protein for adenylate cyclase. This permanent activation leads to increased levels of cAMP, which uncontrollably activates kinases responsible for chloride channeling in epithelial cells. The net effect of this action is an increased chloride secretion, which leads to diarrhoea (Sears and Kaper, 1996).

2.3.1.4 Enteroaggregative E. coli

This enteric *E. coli* is differentiated from the other pathotypes by its characteristic adherence to each other and the cells of the intestinal walls. These pathogens form piles of microbial layers to the intestinal walls, in a manner known as auto-aggregation (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). Experiments have shown that this phenomenon is made possible by fimbrial structures for adhesins (Nataro *et al.*, 1992; Nataro *et al.*, 1994; Czeczulin *et al.*, 1997). Thus, the main mechanism of EAEC infection is due to their ability to associate with each other and colonize the intestinal mucosa, secreting enterotoxins and cytotoxins (Nataro *et al.*, 1998).

2.3.1.5 Enteroinvasive E. coli

The *Shigella spp* have been found to be biochemically and pathogenically related to this pathotype of *E. coli* (Pupo *et al.*, 2000). The afore-mentioned microorganisms share essential virulence factors. EIEC infects in the early stage by penetration through the epithelial cells of the intestines, followed by endocytic vacuolation. Once in the cytoplasm, the pathogen multiplies, followed by directional movement of the progenies, which is facilitated by concentration of cellular actin into a 'tail', extending from one pole of the bacteria to the other (Sansonetti, 2002). This enables EIEC to invade adjacent cells and cause inflammatory colitis and mainly small bowel syndrome.

2.3.1.6 Diffused adherent E. coli

Diffused adherent *E. coli* (DAEC) have a characteristic diffuse pattern of adherence to target cells and have been associated with several cases of diarrhoea, especially among infants (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). The mechanism involves a cytopathic effect that is characterized by the host cells developing long cellular extensions, which wrap around the bacteria. Further studies have found the presence of adhesion virulence factors as essential for this pathotype of *E. coli* to induce this characteristic sequence, in order to cause diarrhoea (Bernet-Camard *et al.*, 1996).



Figure 1: Pathotypes of Entero-*E. coli*; a) Enteropathogenic, b) Enterohaemorrhagic, c) Enterotoxigenic, d) Enteroaggregative, e) Enteroinvasive and f) Diffused adherence *E. coli*. Source; Nature Microbiology Review (Kaper *et al.*, 2004).

2.3.2 Extra-intestinal E. coli

The non-intestinal infecting strains of *E. coli* are mainly involved in causing urinary tract infections and meningitis. This class of *E. coli* has not been extensively studied and classified into pathotypes like the enteric/diarrrhoea *E. coli* (Kaper *et al.*, 2004). However, urinary tract infection-causing *E. coli* is loosely referred to as uropathogenic *E. coli* and has been studied, based on virulence factors whose protein products enable the microorganism to interact with the host tissues.

2.3.2.1 Uropathogenic E. coli

Non-pathogenic and pathogenic *E. coli* which migrate from the colon of the human host can colonize the urinary tract system and persist (Sweeney *et al.*, 1996). These microorganisms may possibly evolve through mutations or transformation into DNA sequences carrying virulence factors or introducing pathogenicity islands with associated virulence factors (Kaper *et al.*, 2004). These changes or additions in the genetic make-up of *E. coli* enable its adaptation and ability to persist in its new urine-abundant environment.

2.3.3 Virulence factors

Virulence is the ability of an organism to cause disease in a host and this depends on specific characteristics, due to inherent or acquired genes which enables the pathogen to infect its host (Johnson, 1991). Uropathogenic *E. coli* interacts with its host, through three major pathways facilitated by three major groups of genes, called virulence factors. These virulence factors are gene products, such as structural tissues, exotoxins or membrane-bound toxins and iron acquisition structures. No single virulence factor has been identified in isolation but various combinations of these virulence factors have been found in isolated cultures of uropathogenic *E. coli* as the cause of pathogenicity (Brooks *et al.*, 1981; Lomberg *et al.*, 1984; Johnson *et al.*, 1988). Studies have further shown that this is predominant in UTI than faecal isolates of *E. coli* (Brooks *et al.*, 1981; Hacker *et al.*, 1983). This observation therefore, suggests synergistic action of virulence factors as the mechanism of uropathogenic *E. coli* invading host defence system to cause disease (Johnson, 1991). However, variation in the expression of these virulence factors in isolated uropathogenic *E. coli* have been identified in several studies, attributed possibly to geographical differences and strain types.



Figure 2: Interaction of uropathogenic *E. coli* with host tissue (Source; Eisenstein *et al.*, 1988).

2.3.3.1 Adherence

This is the primary interaction route the *E. coli* adopts in order to infect its host (Baddour *et al.*, 1990). Attachment to uro-epithelial cells enables the pathogen to persist and form reservoirs for subsequent infections. The mechanism is partially inhibited by the shedding of host uro-epithelial cells in the high current flow of urine (Hooton and Stamm, 1996). Fimbriae, a morphologically and functionally distinct structure from flagella, have been found to be responsible for adherence of the uropathogen to the host cells and other surfaces like pollen, latex beads and spores (de Man *et al.*, 1987). Studies have found the attachment and agglutination of erythrocytes by *E. coli* isolates to be a function of the presence of fimbrae. However, this process of agglutination of erythrocytes is influenced by the exposure of the *E. coli* to antibiotics, like ampicillin, trimethoprim and tetracycline (Hales and Amyes, 1985). Fimbrae is made up of repeating protein subunits and their ability to adhere to cells have been assessed and characterized, based on their resistance to the sugar, mannose in attaching to substrates (van Die *et al.*, 1988).

Adherence also depends on the host epithelial cells, as patients with recurrent urinary tract infections tend to promote fimbrae adherence, as compared to same cells from control patients (Bruce *et al.*, 1983). Other factors such as the antibacterial properties of UTI-free patients, stages of menstrual cycle and hormonal treatments also influence the degree of adherence by the uropathogen to host uro-epithelial cells (Reid, 2001).

2.3.3.1.1 Mannose resistant adhesins

This is a trait of most strains of uropathogenic *E. coli*, which enables them cause agglutination of erythrocytes by way of attachment and cross-linking, even in the presence of mannose and has a strong correlation with haemolysin-production (Evans *et al.*, 1980). Diversity in this trait is characterized, based on receptor specificity. Adhesins that recognize

the P blood group antigen receptors are termed P fimbriae, while others that identify antigens in the absence of P fimbriae called X adhesins (Johnson, 1991).

2.3.3.1.1.1 P fimbriae

Evidence show that this type of adhesin is specific for the Gal (α 1-4) Gal β moiety present as carbohydrate components in glycosphingolipids and glycoproteins in mammalian cells, avian eggs and on some bacteria, collectively called P blood group antigen (Marcus *et al.*, 1981). Strains exhibiting this kind of adherence either attach to surfaces naturally bearing the Gal (α 1-4) Gal β moiety or by possibly secreting substances that contain this moiety to serve as a receptor to facilitate adherence (Kroncke *et al.*, 1990). These P fimbriated strains further show slight variance as some adhere more specifically to the Gal (α 1-4) Gal β moiety than to its ceramide derivative, the globotetraosylceramide (Kroncke *et al.*, 1990). Receptors for the P fimbriae are of different densities and distribution in the cells they are found. They are mainly present on the erythrocytes of humans, pigs, pigeons, goats and dogs but not on these cells from horses, cow and guinea pigs (Parry and Rooke, 1985). Uro-epithelial cells of humans also express the Gal (α 1-4) Gal β receptor but with similar densities expressed in both males and females (Lomberg *et al.*, 1986).

P fimbriae is made up of four subunits, together with some accessory proteins; one major subunit, *Pap A*, and three minor subunits, *Pap E*, *Pap F* and *Pap G* (Lindberg *et al.*, 1987; Lund *et al.*, 1987). The *Pap A* forms the bulk of this protein structure and is essential for fimbriae formation but not a determinant for Gal-Gal adherence as studies show the adherence complex can form on the *E. coli* cell surface without fimbriae formation (Lindberg *et al.*, 1984). The minor subunits are minutely localized at the tip of the fimbrial structure with a more elaborate *Pap C* found on the outer membrane, forming the assembly platform for fimbrial growth (Lindberg *et al.*, 1987). These fimbriae components are arranged on a multicistronic gene cluster called *pap* (Baga *et al.*, 1984). A recent work showed the gene *pap*

C, having a 94 and 45% distribution in *E. coli* isolates from patients of non-immunocompromised and immuno-compromised conditions and also more prevalent in isolates from pyelonephritis and prostatitis than in cystitis (Ruiz *et al.*, 2002; Rijavec *et al.*, 2008). Again, a study conducted in Brazil recorded a distribution of 21.1% of *pap C* in *E. coli* isolates from UTI patients (Santo *et al.*, 2006).

Expression of the P fimbriae is subject to both genetic and environmental factors. Fimbrial expression is favoured by a temperature of 37°C but inhibited between 18-22°C (Abraham *et al.*, 1986; Gander and Thomas, 1987). In addition, concentrations of trimethoprim also inhibit the expression of fimbriae. Findings of the absence of P fimbriae in isolates of pyelonephritis adult patients have led to investigators speculating it is as a result of an underlying anatomic abnormality in the host renal tissues (Dowling *et al.*, 1987).

2.3.3.1.1.2 X adhesins

Non-fimbrial adhesins that are able to cause mannose resistant hemagglutination in the absence of fimbriae are collectively called X adhesins. They are mainly of the Dr family, S fimbriae and others (Johnson, 1991).

Adhesins of the Dr family are so called due to their hybridizing with DNA probes that bind to certain parts of the Dr blood group antigen and these include the O75X and the afimbrial adhesin I(AFA-I) and afimbrial III (AFA-III) (Labigne-Roussel and Falkow, 1988; Nowicki *et al.*, 1990). Structurally, Dr adhesins appear as a fine mesh, a coil-like or filamentous coating structure on the cell membrane (Arthur *et al.*, 1989). Receptors for this type of adhesin are located on the decay accelerating factor on cells making up the Bowman's capsule, basement membrane and uro-epithelial cells, which prevent erythrocyte lysis by complement (Nowicki *et al.*, 1989). However, different strains bearing the Dr adhesins bind to different portions of the Dr antigen receptor with adhesion inhibited by the antibiotic

chloramphenicol. Genetically, the Dr adhesin is made up of five closely packed genes arranged in a cluster, which may be single or have several copies (Labigne-Roussel *et al.*, 1985). Moreover, the amino acid sequence of this gene cluster differs from one strain to the other (Labigne-Roussel and Falkow, 1988).

2.3.3.1.1.3 S fimbriae

Adhesins that cause mannose resistant haemagglutination by specifically attaching to the terminal sialyl-galactoside residues on human erythrocytes are termed S fimbriae (Parkkinen *et al.*, 1989). The gene cluster for this fimbriae comprises a structural subunit which bears similarities to the *pap A* of the P fimbriae, an adhesin and accessory proteins. Expression of S fimbriae is also regulated genetically (Riegman *et al.*, 1990).

2.3.3.1.1.4 Other X adhesins

Some less common X adherence strains have been identified, based on specific binding to other erythrocyte group antigens. The M adhesin binds to the terminal amino acid sequence of the M blood group and the G fimbriae also binds to the *N*-acetylglucosamine moiety of the erythrocyte (Vaisanen-Rhen *et al.*, 1983).

2.3.3.1.2 Mannose-sensitive adhesins

This type of adhesin is unable to effect haemagglutination in the presence of mannose and one of such has been identified in *E. coli* strains.

2.3.3.1.2.1 Type 1 fimbriae

Adherence by type 1 fimbriae is competitively inhibited by mannose and some of its conjugates like α -methylmannoside but not by other monosaccharide molecules (Johnson, 1991). This has left researchers to speculate that the receptors for type 1 fimbriae have a mannose component (Neeser *et al.*, 1986). It has also been found that nitrophenol and its derivatives inhibit adherence of type 1 fimbriae to epithelial tissues but not

haemagglutination of erythrocytes (Falkowski *et al.*, 1986). Receptors for this adhesin are distributed through the buccal, intestinal and vaginal cells of humans and other mammals (Falkowski *et al.*, 1986; Wold *et al.*, 1988). However, most investigators have identified type 1 fimbriae to be a lesser contributory factor to *E. coli* being uropathogenic (Duncan, 1988; Parkkinen *et al.*, 1989).

The gene cluster for type 1 fimbriae encodes a structural subunit, an adhesin and accessory proteins, similar to that of P fimbriae and X adhesins and regulatory proteins (Abraham *et al.*, 1987; Abraham *et al.*, 1988). In addition, isolated strains exhibit only a single copy of the gene cluster which has the expression of the structural subunit independent of the adhesin subunit. Moreover, most isolated strains identified to possess these genes are either fully fimbriated with type 1 fimbriae or non-fimbriated at all (Hultgren *et al.*, 1986; Gander and Thomas, 1987). Growth of the fimbriae is promoted by limiting oxygen concentrations and prior exposure to low concentrations of cephalosporins with chloramphenicol inhibiting its expression. Some *E. coli* cells in a population also have the tendency to genetically switch from non-fimbriated to fimbriated and vice versa (Nowicki *et al.*, 1984; Korhonen *et al.*, 1986).

2.3.3.2 Iron complexing structures/ siderophores

Microorganisms like *E. coli*, require iron for most metabolic processes, such as oxygen transportation, the electron transport system and DNA synthesis. The iron required is obtained from host cells (Neilands *et al.*, 1985; Bagg and Neilands, 1987b). A deficit of this mineral is detrimental to a pathogen as it would not be able to reproduce efficiently to persist in the host. This lack of iron may be due to the insolubility of iron and some defence mechanism employed by the host to starve the pathogen of iron (Gross *et al.*, 1984). Almost all biological forms of iron are complexed with iron proteins within cells, requiring its separation in order to be shuttled into the bacteria cell (de Lorenzo and Martinez, 1988).

Additionally, host organisms respond to bacteria infection by decreasing the absorption of iron in the intestines to reduce iron concentration available for survival of the pathogenic cells (Schaible and Kaufmann, 2004). These pathogens however, have adopted mechanisms to efficiently scavenge for iron from hosts with the aid of iron acquisition structures, called siderophores. Two main siderophores are employed by *E. coli*, namely aerobactin or hydroxamate siderophore; made up of two lysine amino acid units and a citrate molecule and the catecholate, enterobactin (Neilands *et al.*, 1985).

2.3.3.2.1 Aerobactin/Hydroxamate siderophore

Hydroxamate siderophore has been found to be the most efficient iron complexing protein structure, employed by *E. coli* to keep up a high iron concentration of 10^5 to 10^6 per cell (Bagg and Neilands, 1987b; de Lorenzo and Martinez, 1988). Although a small molecule of about 616 molecular weight, its structure enables the effective chelating of iron to be shuttled into the bacterial cell, due to its high affinity constant of 10^{23} for iron (Neilands *et al.*, 1985; de Lorenzo and Martinez, 1988). After synthesis of this structure, *E. coli* secretes it to the surface of the cell, where it extracts Fe³⁺ in its environment, made possible by haemagglutination or cytolysis of host cells, caused by fimbriae attachment or cytotoxicity of secreted toxins respectively. The Fe³⁺ is taken up into the pathogen through an outer membrane protein receptor (Carbonetti and Williams, 1984). Strains of *E. coli* with the aerobactin system presents an advantage over similar ones as they are uninhibited by other proteins found in serum and dilute urine and thus are able to cleave iron from its iron-protein transferrin and make it readily available (Williams and Carbonetti, 1986; Bagg and Neilands, 1987b). Again, the aerobactin siderophore protein is recycled for iron complexing and shuttling, instead of it being hydrolyzed and resynthesized (Braun *et al.*, 1984).

Aerobactin is genetically made up of five genes; four encoding the enzymes for synthesis of aerobactin and the fifth for the outer membrane protein (Bindereif and Neilands, 1983;

Carbonetti and Williams, 1984). The four genes are termed *iuc*, found in a long sequence, designated *DBAC*, whose gene products catalyze the hydroxylation of lysine, acetylation of hydroxyl group to hydroxamic acid and condensation of two hydroxamic acids with citrate (de Lorenzo and Neilands, 1986). Synthesis is however, inhibited by very high concentrations of intracellular iron, whereby iron complexes with a ferric regulatory protein, *fur*, and binds to the promoter region of aerobactin operon, blocking transcription (Bagg and Neilands, 1987a).

2.3.3.2.2 Enterobactin siderophore

This is the primary iron complexing protein, utilized by *E. coli*. The catecholate component of enterobactin contributes to its high affinity constant of 10^{52} for iron (Williams and Carbonetti, 1986). Enterobactin also possesses a higher ability to remove iron from the ironbinding protein, transferrin, in buffered solutions (Bagg and Neilands, 1987b). However, this property is reversed in serum or urine where there are proteins which bind and reduce or possibly abolish the activity of the siderophore. In contrast to aerobactin, the enterobactin siderophore is hydrolyzed after extraction of iron to be resynthesized to repeat the formation of iron complexes (Braun *et al.*, 1984; de Lorenzo and Martinez, 1988). In addition, the enterobactin system leaves free iron in the cytosol of the bacteria, instead of delivering it to bacteria iron centres in the cytoplasm (Williams and Carbonetti, 1986).

Similar to the aerobactin system, enterobactin requires genes for siderophore synthesis and outer membrane transport protein but involves a higher number of these genes. The system requires at least sixteen genes; seven for synthesis of the siderophore structure, eight for the outer membrane transport structure and the last for a protein responsible for cleaving iron from the siderophore in the cytoplasm (Crowley *et al.*, 1991).

2.3.3.3 Toxin genes

In order for microorganisms to obtain essential nutrients from host cells, certain cytolytic proteins are synthesized to effect the rupturing of host cells. These protein molecules are either secreted or membrane-bound. Examples of such molecules are haemolysin, cytotoxic necrotizing factor 1 and *usp* protein.

2.3.3.3.1 Haemolysin

Haemolytic *E. coli* synthesizes cytolytic proteins that rupture erythrocytes in mammals and some aquatic species. These toxins are mainly proteins of about 110 kDa, with some phospholipid components and are either secreted α -haemolysin or membrane-bound β -haemolysin (Beutin *et al.*, 1988; Wagner *et al.*, 1988).

Activity of this toxin requires calcium ions (Ca²⁺) as a cofactor at about ≥ 10 mM, although activity in the absence of this ion has been reported (Bhakdi *et al.*, 1986). Haemolysin acts by inserting into lipid-containing cation-selective channels in host erythrocytes, making it more permeable to molecules, such as Ca²⁺, K⁺ and sucrose. This leads to lysis or the erythrocytes being bleached of haemoglobin (Jorgensen *et al.*, 1986; Bhakdi *et al.*, 1988). In addition to erythrocyte lysis, haemolysins are also known to be cytotoxic to host defence cells. Exposure to haemolysin causes polymorphonuclear lymphocytes to lose their morphology, due to degranulation and loss of leukotrienes, and a resultant impaired natural defence mechanisms, such as loss of response to chemical signals and phagocytosis (Gadeberg and Larsen, 1988; Bhakdi *et al.*, 1989). Haemolysin also stimulates the generation of reactive oxygen species from renal tubular cells and histamine release from mast cells and basophils, causing the compromise of renal tissues (Keane *et al.*, 1987; Gross-Weege *et al.*, 1988).

A four-gene operon, termed *hly*, has been identified to be involved in the production of haemolysin (Johnson, 1991). The *hly* A and *hly* C are genes for synthesizing the toxin protein

structure and activation of the intracellular protein, respectively (Felmlee *et al.*, 1985). Secretion of activated toxins from the cell membrane is made possible by the activity of *hly B* and the process further aided by the protein product of *hly D* (Wagner *et al.*, 1988).

The haemolytic action of *E. coli* is regulated physico-chemically by temperature and iron concentration. Haemolytic activity is inhibited by high temperatures with a corresponding decrease in haemolysin production, when iron concentration increases (Bohach and Snyder, 1985; Mackman *et al.*, 1986).

2.3.3.3.2 Cytotoxic necrotizing factor-1(CNF-1)

This toxin was identified as a cell product of *E. coli* strains, mainly isolated from diarrhoea experiencing infants (Caprioli et al., 1983). Studies have shown CNF-1 can induce cell death and cause changes in cell morphology as it caused necrosis of rabbit skin and induced multinucleation of tissue cultured cells (Blanco et al., 1992; Capo et al., 1998). Most pathogenic isolates of *E. coli* produce CNF-1 of varying percentages, based on source of bacteria strains; 40% of strains isolated in urinary tract infections and 5-30% of strains involved in diarrhoea (Blanco et al., 1992; Landraud et al., 2000). CNF-1 acts on host epithelial cells and leukocytes, like monocytes or macrophages, via the activation of guanosine 5'-triphosphates (GTP) binding proteins, Rho A, Rac and Cdc (Chant and Stowers, 1995; Fiorentini et al., 1997; Capo et al., 1998; Fiorentini C. et al., 1998). The action of these GTP proteins, with specific effects on actin, is dependent on the regulation of the actin-myosin cytoskeleton. Rho A is specifically modified by CNF-1 by deamidation of glutamine 63 (Gln 63) of the protein into glutamic acid (Flatau et al., 1997). Moreover, the GTP proteins serve as substrates for the deaminase activity of the CNF-1 and this has subsequently been linked to the accumulation of stress fibres in epithelial cells (Fiorentini et al., 1997; Lerm et al., 1999). This action leads to modification of microvilli structure and also inhibits trans-epithelial migration of polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Work on monocyte-macrophages reveal CNF-1

increases filamentous actin content, which results in a decrease in phagocytotic activity (Capo *et al.*, 1998).

2.3.3.3.3 usp Protein

The gene encoding this protein toxin was first isolated from uropathogenic *E. coli*, responsible for causing inflammation of the prostate gland in a patient (Kurazono *et al.*, 2000). Similar to the CNF-1, studies suggest *usp* is common amongst uropathogenic strains than faecal strains (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2001). The *usp* gene is located on the chromosome and not on plasmids of pathogenic *E. coli* (Nakano *et al.*, 2001). The gene was found to be located on a 4.2kb pathogenicity island, followed downstream by putative sequences without any functions in a mouse model (Nakano *et al.*, 2001; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2001). However, analysis of the sequence upstream revealed a recurrent sequence, identical to that responsible for the production of haemolysin-coregulated protein (Hcp protein) in *Vibrio cholerae*, which has an unknown function (Williams *et al.*, 1996).

Homology studies have drawn a relation between the *usp* protein and the S-type pyocin of some *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains. These pyocins are ribosomally-synthesized antimicrobial molecules which microbes direct against closely related competing strains in their environment (Riley, 1998). The S pyocin is also chromosomally encoded and synthesized as a protein complex, comprising a 'killing protein' with a nuclease activity and an immunity protein against the nuclease action on the producer cell (Kurazono *et al.*, 2000; Nakano *et al.*, 2001). It is therefore, suggested that the uropathogenic *E. coli* increases virulence by synthesizing and secreting its bacteriocin, *usp* protein, to eliminate competing microbes but persists to continually infect the host, with the help of an immunity protein against the bacteriocin. A screening of *E. coli* isolates from UTI patients identified *usp* gene prevalence of 44% (Starcic-Erjavec *et al.*, 2008). Other studies in different geographical regions, like Japan in Asia, have recorded the distribution of *usp* in uropathogenic *E. coli* to

be as high as 79-93%, giving an indication of geographical locations contributing to differences in strains (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2001; Kanamaru *et al.*, 2003). A similar work done in the United States on only women, recorded a 68.5% distribution of *usp* gene in the isolates (Bauer *et al.*, 2002)



Figure 3: Mechanism of UTI caused by uropathogenic E. coli (Kapler et al., 2004).

2.4 Detection of Urinary Tract Infection

Two major diagnostic methods are commonly used for the detection of uropathogens; microbiological culturing which is the currently accepted gold standard and dipstick urinalysis. The PCR method is also a known powerful tool for diagnosis.

2.4.1 Dipstick Urinalysis

The urine dipstick is a fast diagnostic technique for the detection of urinary tract infections. It is relatively less time-consuming and cheaper, as compared to known methods for microbial detection in urine samples (Hurlbut and Littenburg, 1991). However, studies suggest that the sample population and the setting are factors which dictate the results obtained using dipstick (Deville *et al.*, 2004). Analysis by dipstick is preceded by urine sample collection which could be a clean catch midstream technique. External genitalia cleansing before passing of urine sample has been found to be of little benefit as there is only a 3% difference in contamination rates between samples taken with and without prior cleansing (Lifshitz and Kramer, 2000). The dipstick is impregnated with various colour-generating chemicals, used to measure parameters indicative of conditions due to UTI.

2.4.1.1 Parameters determined by Dipstick

Some parameters determined in dipstick urinalysis give good indication of infections in the urinary tract. These are haematuria, proteinuria, nitrites and leukocyte esterase.

2.4.1.1.1 Haematuria

The presence of more than two red blood cells in the urine of a patient under a high powered light microscope field, according to the American Urological Association, could be an indication of urinary tract infections (Mariani *et al.*, 1989). The dipstick measures this parameter by detecting the peroxidase activity of haemoglobin or myoglobin, with the aid of an indicator which is oxidized to change colour (Ahmed and Lee, 1997). However, there are other known causes of haematuria such as tumours, calculi and exercise-induced haematuria, which may give a false positive result for UTI (Siegel *et al.*, 1979; Brendler, 1998).

2.4.1.1.2 Proteinuria

Although the glomerulus normally secretes some urinary proteins, such as albumin and globulin, excretion above the threshold of 10-20 mg/dL is indicative of renal disease, causing the glomerulus to be porous and unable to reabsorb these proteins or the proteins overwhelming the cells' ability to reabsorb (Sheets and Lyman, 1986). The dipstick is able to
yield positive results for protein concentrations as low as 5-10 mg/dL with reliable sensitivities and specificities greater than 99% (Woolhandler *et al.*, 1989). Besides, postural proteinuria, which is a benign condition from prolonged standing could give a false positive for UTI.

2.4.1.1.3 Nitrites

Conversion of nitrates in urine to nitrite by bacteria, serves as evidence of UTI, and this can be detected by dipstick. Most Gram-negative and some Gram-positive bacteria convert nitrate to nitrite which when detected by dipstick is indicative of more than 100,000 per mL of bacteria present (Simerville *et al.*, 2005). The test is very specific for nitrite but with a low sensitivity (Pels *et al.*, 1989). Exposure of the dipstick to air has been found to alter its sensitivity, with greater numbers giving false positives, upon subsequent exposures (Gallagher *et al.*, 1990). However, non-nitrate reducing bacteria, example *Staphylococcus saprophyticus* and Enterococcus, may give false negative results.

2.4.1.1.4 Leukocyte Esterase

The localization of leukocytes is a strong indication of infection and this phenomenon is employed in dipstick urinalysis to detect the presence of bacteria infection. Leukocyte esterase, produced by neutrophils at the site of inflammation is qualitatively detected to indicate infection by bacteria. However, localization of leukocytes could also be due to urethritis, tuberculosis, viral infections, steroids and exercise (Simerville *et al.*, 2005).

Dipstick test	False Positive	False Negative
Blood	Dehydration, exercise,	Captopril (Capoten), elevated specific
	haemoglobinuria,	gravity, pH < 5.1,
	menstrual blood, myoglobinuria	proteinuria, vitamin C
Protein	Alkaline or concentrated urine,	Acidic or dilute urine, primary protein is
	phenazopyridine,	not albumin
	quaternary ammonia compounds	
Nitrite	Contamination, exposure of	Elevated specific gravity, elevated
	dipstick to air,	urobilinogen levels,
	phenazopyridine	nitrate reductase-negative bacteria, pH <
		6.0, vitamin C
Leukocyte	Contamination	Elevated specific gravity, glycosuria,
esterase		ketonuria, proteinuria,
		some oxidizing drugs (cephalexin,
		nitrofurantoin, tetracycline, gentamicin),
		vitamin C
Nitrite Leukocyte esterase	Contamination, exposure of dipstick to air, phenazopyridine Contamination	Elevated specific gravity, elevated urobilinogen levels, nitrate reductase-negative bacteria, pH 6.0, vitamin C Elevated specific gravity, glycosuria, ketonuria, proteinuria, some oxidizing drugs (cephalexin , nitrofurantoin, tetracycline, gentamicir vitamin C

Table 1: Causes of false positive and false negative results of urine dipstick test

(Source: Simerville *et al.*, 2005)

2.4.1.1.5 Diagnostic indicators of UTI in dipstick urinalysis

Urinalysis using dipstick has necessitated a number of studies which have utilized nitrite and leukocyte esterase parameters as good indicators of UTI. A meta-analysis in the 1990s concluded that the use of the presence of nitrite and leukocyte esterase in urine were superior to the use of microscopy for detecting the presence of leukocytes, as an indication of infection (Gorelick and Shaw, 1999). A more recent meta-analysis however, suggested a high power field microscopy for pyuria to be the best for assessing UTI (W. H.O, 2005).

Studies in Africa reveal a good correlation in positive and negative predictive values for nitrite and leukocyte esterase combination for UTI diagnosis. A rural African study gave a positive predictive value of 73.8% and a negative predictive value of 95.7% while a city study gave a positive predictive value of 90.5% and a negative predictive value of 98.4%, indicating differences in dipstick performance in UTI prevalence between both settings (Wiggelinkhuizen *et al.*, 1988; Reed and Wegerhoff, 1995).

2.4.1.2 Usefulness of diagnostic tests

Diagnostic tests are of use in their ability to detect a person with a particular disease or exclude another without the disease. The diagnostic usefulness of a test is expressed in terms of sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values (Steurer *et al.*, 2002).

2.4.1.2.1 Sensitivity

The sensitivity of a clinical test refers to its ability to correctly identify patients with a disease (Altman and Bland, 1994). Sensitivity is calculated as the number of patients with disease who tested positive (true positives) divided by patients with disease who tested positive (true positives) plus patients with disease who tested negative i.e. false negatives (Lalkhen and McCluskey, 2008). Hypothetically, a test with 80% sensitivity detects 80% of patients with the disease (true positives) but 20% with the disease are undetected (false negatives). Hence, inference can only be made on how good a test is for identifying people with disease based on sensitivity when considering only diseased patients (Akobeng, 2006).

2.4.1.2.2 Specificity

Specificity of a test is the proportion of people without the disease who will have a negative result (Akobeng, 2006). This value is calculated from the number of patients without the disease who tested negative (true negatives) divided by the number of patients without the disease who tested negative (true negatives) and the number of patients without the disease who tested positive i.e. false positives (Lalkhen and McCluskey, 2008). A test with 80% specificity correctly detects 80% of the patients without the disease as negative (true negatives) but 20% of patients without the disease are incorrectly detected as positive (false positives). The specificity value is also only important when considering only those without the disease (Loong, 2003).

2.4.1.2.3 Limitations

A test with high sensitivity but low specificity, due to increase in false positives, which is usually the case for improved methods, results in many patients without the disease being detected as having it (Loong, 2003). In the absence of the ideal but unrealistic situation of 100% for both sensitivity and specificity, the patient is subjected to a confirmatory test with a lower sensitivity and higher specificity to correct the anomaly in the initial test (Lalkhen and McCluskey, 2008).

2.4.1.2.4 Predictive values

The aim of a diagnostic test is to make diagnosis from its result; hence there is the need to determine the probability that a test result will give a correct diagnosis (Akobeng, 2006). Probabilities can therefore be determined for both positive and negative tests.

KNUST

2.4.1.2.5 Positive predictive value (PPV)

The PPV indicates the likelihood of a patient having the disease, given that the test is positive. This value is obtained by dividing the number of true positives by the total number of positives i.e. true positives plus false positives (Altman and Bland, 1994).

2.4.1.2.6 Negative predictive value (NPV)

The NPV of a test indicates how likely it is that a patient does not have the disease, given that the result is negative. NPV is expressed as the number of true negatives divided by the number of true negatives and false negatives (Altman and Bland, 1994).

2.4.1.2.7 Receiver Operator Characteristic (ROC) Curves

The ROC is used to investigate to what extent test results differ from people who do or do not have a disease under study. It was a plot designed in the 1950's for radar signal detection but is now used in the medical field (Metz, 1986). An ROC plot is generated by calculation of

sensitivity and specificity of every observed data value and plotting sensitivity against 1specificity. A test is usually considered useless when the plot gives a straight line from the bottom left corner to the top right corner (Altman and Bland, 1994). Moreover, the acceptance of a test is given by the area under the curve, which is equivalent to the probability that a person chosen at random with the disease would have a higher value than an individual without the disease (Henley and McNeil, 1982). An ROC curve is also useful when comparing two or more measurements or tests. A test curve which lies wholly to the left or above another will be a better diagnostic tool with an area closer to 1.0 confirming a better method than that closer to 0.5 (Hilden, 1991). This analysis tool is simple and gives graphical representation of the results which is easily understood. However, the number of subjects is hidden in the display of results and the higher the number of subjects, the more jagged the resultant curve (Zweig and Campbell, 1993).

Table 2: Sensitivity and specificity of dipstick components in urinalysis

Test	Sensitivity % (range)	Specificity % (range)
Leukocyte esterase	83 (67-94)	78 (64-92)
Nitrite	53 (15-82)	98 (90-100)
Leukocyte esterase or nitrite positive	<mark>93 (90-</mark> 100)	72 (58-91)
(6 19410 2005)		

(Source: WHO, 2005)

2.4.2 Microbiological Culture

Growth of pathogenic microbes in specific media has remained the gold standard for detecting infections (Zorc *et al.*, 2005). The predominant Gram-negative bacteria associated with UTI grow on specific solid media at specific temperatures, to give rise to colonies originating from a single cell or changes in the colour and/or produce gases in liquid media, due to metabolic activities, indicating presence and probable number of the microorganism(s)

(Orenstein and Wong, 1999; Lutters and Vogt, 2000). However, culturing is limited, since it cannot differentiate between the same pathogen from different origins. Hence, microbiological culture for UTI diagnosis may be contaminated by faecal bacteria that colonize the perineal and distal urethra. Moreover, problems of contamination of culture from true infection are common and require repeated culturing for good diagnosis (Zorc *et al.*, 2005). In adults, a threshold of $\geq 10^{5}$ CFU/mL of voided urine specimen is accepted as a positive test for UTI while the cut-off is 10^{4} for children (Kass, 1956). However, in some cases the growth of any number of bacteria from urine specimen is considered significant. It is also sometimes difficult to diagnose a patient with UTI based on microbiological culture without any clinical evidence due to the possibility of asymptomatic bacteriuria (Kunin, 1970). Some pathogens are fastidious and others, viable but non-culturable (Colwell, 2006). This condition of viable but being non-culturable, therefore prevents the investigator from obtaining the true presence and number of bacteria present which would affect diagnosis of the infection.

2.4.3 Polymerase Chain Reaction

The advancement of molecular biology has led to the development of highly sensitive techniques, including Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR), which is widely applied in the field of diagnosis. PCR mimics the *in vivo* process of DNA replication. The technique, thus enables amplification of DNA sequences from any organism. Separation of the PCR products by electrophoresis allows determination of polymorphism and cloning of amplified genes. A thermal cycler is employed to run PCR reaction mixture which includes deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs), buffer containing MgCl₂, *Taq* polymerase, DNA template and DNA primers, through cycles of DNA denaturation, primer annealing and primer elongation (Clement and Heyman, 1997).

PCR makes diagnosis of microorganisms, like viruses and bacteria much easier, as it reduces the time for specimen analysis, ranging from a few minutes to hours, as compared to other methods, notably the culturing method, especially for those microbes with designed primers (Yamamoto, 2002). Increasing trend in genome sequencing and analysis has facilitated the increased usage of PCR in molecular diagnostics. In addition, substantial work has been done to ascertain host-pathogen information at molecular level (Marrs *et al.*, 2005). Comparatively, PCR requires much smaller quantities of specimen for analysis. In addition, the specificity of primers used for pathogen detection reduces false results due to contamination (He *et al.*, 1994).

The use of PCR, however, is not without shortcomings. The first of them is the unavailability of the thermal cycler, hindering the routine usage of the technique for pathogen detection. Several factors, such as pH, metabolites and even debris in specimens like blood, urine and cerebrospinal fluid are known to interfere with PCR reaction conditions (Yamamoto, 2002). PCR products could be subject to contamination from the environment and carryover of DNA from previously amplified DNA, if stringent measures like the preparation of specimen in a flow cabinet with ultraviolet light and the use of new pipette tips per specimen are not adhered to (Kwok and Higuchi, 1989; Kitchin et al., 1990). Moreover, sensitivity of the PCR is also dependent on the DNA extraction and the PCR protocol used (Dennett et al., 1991). When a procedure requires it, most specimens are boiled and extracted with organic solvents or with commercially available kits, which employ silica or glass columns for DNA extraction (Bouquillon et al., 2000). The nested PCR, which involves the amplification of conventional PCR products using a second set of primers, is also known to be about 1,000 times more sensitive than the standard PCR, though not always the case (Apfalter et al., 2001). In addition to the PCR protocols, the target genes used for designing primers and the primer length contribute to the sensitivity and specificity of PCR detection of pathogens

(Schmidt, 1997). Varying results for different primers design from the same sequence, have been realized in pathogen detection with a high number of target sequence copies found to increase the sensitivity of the method (Yamamoto, 2002). Moreover, most studies require the pre-culturing of microbes to increase the cell numbers before PCR runs and this prolongs the time for obtaining results (Kurazono *et al.*, 2000; Marrs *et al.*, 2005).

2.4.4 Prevalence of Urinary Tract Infection in West Africa and Ghana.

A number of studies have been done in the West African sub-region, which suggest a wide range of prevalence of UTI in some selected populations. Most of these studies were done in febrile and malnourished infants and children below the age of 12 years, with the study sites being primarily hospitals and other health facilities (Mussa-Aisien *et al.*, 2003). Some studies have also been done on male and female adults, including pregnant women (Kolawole *et al.*, 2009; Imade *et al.*, 2010).

A Nigerian study on febrile infants of 1 to 60 months, reported a UTI prevalence of 9%, with females having a significantly higher prevalence, compared to males (Mussa-Aisien *et al.*, 2003). A study has reported a prevalence rate of 43% in children below the age of 10 years (Babaoye *et al.*, 1991). Moreover, in all these investigations on UTI in children, *E. coli* was found to be the predominant causative pathogen. Again, in Nigeria, an adolescent population gave a 28% incidence of UTI, with *E. coli* the causative agent of 52.77% (Aiyegoro *et al.*, 2007). However, data on the adolescent group has been few, to draw any conclusion on the population.

Similarly, UTIs in young adults in the sub-region show the predominance of *E. coli* in culture isolates from urine samples, with the age range of 21 to 30 years having the highest infections of 44 to 53%. It has also been established that adult females have UTI prevalence twice as much as their male counterparts as shown in a study in the sub-region, with *E. coli* frequency

of 30.56% (Kolawole *et al.*, 2009). Pregnant women attending antenatal clinic have presented prevalence ranging from 7.3% in a study in Kumasi, Ghana (Turpin *et al.*, 2007), to 86.6% in Benin City, Nigeria (Akerele and Okonofua, 2001).



CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1Materials. Refer to Appendix 1A

3.1.1 Study site

The study population was drawn from three basic schools in the Oforikrom Sub-Metro in Kumasi. Two hundred and seventy two students (272) were recruited from Junior High School (JHS) 1 to 3 for the study. The sample size estimate was based on a prevalence of 10% in a Nigerian study (Oladeinde *et al.*, 2011), using a confidence level of 95% and marginal error of 0.05.

3.1.2 Recruitment

First meeting was to get the participants informed about the objectives of the study and its significance. A questionnaire was administered and participants provided with the sample bottles to be used for the collection of the urine. The urine collecting methodology was carefully explained to the students. Participants were asked to seek parental consents before passing early morning mid-stream urine the next day. Urine samples were collected in the morning at schools in Kentinkrono, Ayeduase and Bomso.

3.2 Collection of samples

Early morning mid-stream urine samples of about 10-15 ml were collected; using UVsterilized plastic bottles with air-tight screw cap tops. Each urine sample bottle was labelled with a reference code, age, sex, and time of collection. The samples were placed in a cold box for transportation to the laboratory, where it was stored until analyses were carried out. All samples were analyzed with the microbial culture method and a 195 sub-population were analyzed with the dipstick, microbial culture and PCR methods. **3.2.1** *Inclusion criteria*: Pupils and students of 13 to 19 years, without any symptoms indicative of UTI, who consented to be part of the study, were recruited.

3.2.2 *Exclusion criteria*: Participants diagnosed with UTI and those on antibiotic therapy were excluded from the study.

3.3 Urine dipstick

Urine samples were preliminarily analyzed for UTI by use of DIRUI A10 urine test strips. This was done within the first two hours of sample collection. Each urine strip was dipped in urine and analyzed according to the manufacturer's instructions. A positive test for leukocyte esterase and/or nitrite was scored 1 for UTI using dipstick and 0 for absence of UTI.

3.4 Microbiological Culture Method

MacConkey broth media (Oxoid Limited) was employed to determine the Most Probable Number (MPN) of microbes in all 272 samples (Cochran, 1950). Serial dilutions of 10^{-1} , 10^{-2} in addition to the raw sample (10°), were used, with 1 ml of each solution added to 5 ml of the broth in triplicates and incubated at 44°C for 48 hours. A positive test for *E. coli* presence was indicated by colour change from pink to yellow and colony forming units greater than 10^4 /mL. About 1 ml of positive test tubes contents were transferred into 5 ml tryptophan broth and incubated at 44°C for 24 hours. Three drops of Kovac's reagent were added to the test tubes. A positive test for *E. coli* indicated a reddish ring formed at the surface of the broth. Positive *E. coli* test tubes were then plated, using SS agar and incubated at 37°C. *E. coli* presence was confirmed by identification of rose-red colonies (Stamm *et al.*, 1982; Stark and Maki, 1984). UTI diagnosed with microbial culture method was scored as 1 and 0 for UTI absence.

3.5 PCR method

3.5.1 Preparation of bacterial DNA.

This test was carried out on 195 of the urine samples. DNA to be amplified was obtained from 400 μ l aliquots of urine samples initially dispensed into sterile 1500 μ l Eppendorf tubes and centrifuged at 11,000 rpm for 30 seconds. Aliquots of 200 μ l were pipetted from the supernatant into sterile 1500 μ l Eppendorf tubes and incubated at 120°C for 15 minutes in a water bath, similar to the protocol described by Le Bouguenec *et al* (1992). Resultant template DNA solution was stored as template DNA stock and short-spinned for use in PCR reaction.

3.5.2 Amplification procedure

PCR was done in a total volume of 10.5 μ l, containing 1.5 μ l of the template DNA, each of the primers at 10 μ M, the four deoxynucleoside triphosphates (each at 250 μ M), 10 mM Tris hydrochloride (pH 9), 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 30 mM KCl and 1U of DNA polymerase (Bioneer, . PCR amplifications consisted of an initial denaturation at 94°C for 2 minutes and 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 65°C for 1 min, and extension at 72°C for 2 minutes and finally held at 4°C for 7 minutes in a Thermal Cycler (Eppendorf mastercycler, Germany). Five microliters of the reaction mixture was then analyzed by electrophoresis on 2% agarose gels and 3 μ L of ethidium bromide. The resulting electrophoretic band was compared to a DNA size ladder corresponding to the products of the amplification, while viewing with the aid of a UV-trans-illuminator (TFM-26, USA) and image captured with a digital camera (Samsung, 12.5 megapixels, Republic of Korea)

3.5.3 Scoring of PCR products

DNA bands corresponding to PCR products for *papC* and/or *usp* primers were scored 1 for UTI presence and 0 for absence.

3.6 Statistical Analysis

The data were entered and analyzed with the Fischer's exact or Chi-square test and 2 x 2 contingency table. Comparison of diagnostic methods was done through the receiver operator characteristics analysis. The statistical software used was GraphPad Prism version 5 from GraphPad Software Inc USA. The statistical significance was set at $P \le 0.05$.

3.7 Ethical clearance

Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the Committee of Human Research, Publications and Ethics of the Komfo Anokye Teaching Hospital and the School of Medical Sciences, KNUST. Permission was also sought from the Metro Education Office and headteachers of the schools.



CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 Prevalence of UTI

A total of 272 urine samples were analyzed, using microbiological culture method to determine the total UTI prevalence (30.88%) by uropathogenic *E. coli*. Mean age of males (15.04 ± 0.11 years) in Table 3 below was higher than that of females (14.62 ± 0.11) with no significant difference (p= 0.2130). Conversely, females had a higher prevalence of 34.88% and 27.27% for males with no significant difference (p= 0.1903

The sub-populations used for comparing the three diagnostic tests had a mean age of 14.97 ± 0.10 with males being significantly older (15.16 ± 0.14 years) than females (14.74 ± 0.14) with *p* value 0.0351 (Table 4). Leukocyte esterase parameter in dipstick analysis detected more females having UTI (40.90%) than males (24.30%) with *p* value 0.0320. In addition, the culture method detected more females significantly having UTI (39.77%) compared to males (25.23%) with a *p* value of 0.0320. The PCR method parameters (*papC*, *usp*, *papC* or *usp* and *papC+usp*) showed no significant differences between males and females. Males recorded higher percentages for *papC* (43.93%), *papC* or *usp* (79.44%) and *papC+usp* (20.54%) than females.

WJ SANE NO

PARAMETER	Total	Males	Females	p value
	N=272	N=143	N=129	
Mean age (years)	$14.84{\pm}~0.08$	$15.04{\pm}0.11$	14.62 ± 0.11	0.2130
No. of positives	84	39	45	
Prevalence (%)	30.88	27.27	34.88	0.1903

Table 3: Overall prevalence of UTI caused by uropathogenic *E. coli*, using the standard microbiological culture method.

 Table 4: Various parameters determined for a sub-population of 195 subjects.

PARAMETERS	Total	Males	Females	<i>p</i> value
	N=195	N=107	N=88	
Mean age (years)	14.97±0.10	15.16±0.14	14.74±0.14	0.0351*
Leukocyte esterase (%)	62(31.79)	26(24.30)	36(40.90)	0.0142*
Nitrite (%)	2(1.03)	0(0 <mark>.0</mark> 0)	2(2.27)	0.2024
Protein (%)	1(0.51)	1(0.93)	0(0.00)	1.0000
Blood (%)	8(4.10)	4(3.74)	4(4.55)	1.0000
Culture (%)	62(31.79)	27(25.23)	35(39.77)	0.0320*
papC(%)	76(38.97)	47(43.93)	29(32.95)	0.1406
usp (%)	103(52.82)	54(50.47)	49(55.68)	0.4755
papC or $usp(%)$	149(76.41)	85(79.44)	64(72.72)	0.3108
papC and usp (%)	36(18.46)	22(20.56)	14(15.90)	0.4609

[*=significant difference *p*< 0.05 at 95% confidence interval]

 Table 5: Prevalence of uropathogenic E. coli infection stratified by age in both males and females based on positive tests for leukocyte esterase and/or nitrite parameters of dipstick method.

Age	Total	Male	Female
13	8/33(24.24)	2/18(11.11)	6/15(40.00)
14	17/44(38.64)	4/22(18.18)	13/22(59.09)
15	22/52(42.31)	13/27(48.15)	9/25(36.00)
16	5/37(13.51)	2/24(8.33)	3/13(23.08)
17	8/20(40.00)	3/12(25.00)	5/8(62.5)
18	2/9(22.22)	1/7(14.29)	1/2(50.00)
Prevalence	62/195(31.79)	25/107(23.36)	37/88(42.05)



Figure 4: Urinalysis dipstick showing positive nitrite test.

Figure shows the nitrite panel on the test strip having reacted with urine to generate a green

colour indicating a positive test for UTI.



Figure 5: A petri dish showing colonies of *E. coli*, **growing on Salmonella Shigella agar.** Growth of *E. coli* as rose-red colonies (Figure 5) after streaking of urine samples on SS agar and incubating for 24 hours at 37°C.

4.2 Dipstick test

UTI prevalence of 31.79% was found using the dipstick method (Table 5). Females had a higher prevalence (42.05%) than males (23.36%). The highest prevalence for females was recorded at age 17 (62.50%) and the least at age 16 (23.08%). Prevalence for the total and that of males were highest at age 15 with 42.31% and 48.15% respectively which declined to 22.22% and 14.29% respectively at age 18.

4.3 Culturing of Microbes

Sixty two urine samples (31.79%) tested positive for UTI using the culture method. A lower percentage of males (25.23%) were UTI positive compared to females (39.77%) in Table 6 below. The highest prevalence was recorded at age 17 for both the total and females with 45.00% and 75.00% respectively. Males recorded the highest percentage at age 15 with 40.74%.



Age	Total	Male	Female
13	6/33(18.18)	4/18(22.22)	2/15(13.33)
14	14/44(31.82)	5/22(22.73)	9/22(40.91)
15	22/52(42.31)	11/27(40.74)	11/25(44.00)
16	10/37(27.03)	6/24(25.00)	4/13(30.77)
17	9/20(45.00)	3/12(25.00)	6/8(75.00)
18	1/9(11.11)	1/7(14.29)	0/2(0.00)
Prevalence	62/195(31.79)	27/107(25.23)	35/88(39.77)

 Table 6: Prevalence of uropathogenic E. coli infection stratified by age in both males and females using culture method.

 Table 7: Prevalence of uropathogenic *E. coli* stratified by age in both males and females based on detection of *papC* and/or *usp* genes using PCR method.

Age	Total	Male	Female	
13	<mark>29/33(87.88)</mark>	14/18(77.78)	15/15(100.00)	
14	33/44(75.00)	18/22(81.82)	15/22(68.18)	
15	40/52(76.92)	21/27(77.78)	19/25(76.00)	
16	27/37(72.97)	18/24(75.00)	9/13(69.23)	
17	14/20(70.00)	9/12(75.00)	5/8(62.50)	
18	<mark>6/9(6</mark> 6.66)	5/7(71.43)	1/2(50.00)	
Prevalence	149 <mark>/195(75.88</mark>)	85/107(79.44)	64/88(72.73)	
	W J SANE NO BAD			

4.4 PCR results

A general prevalence of 75.88% (149/195) was recorded for UTI using the PCR method in Table 7 below. Males contributed a higher percentage of UTIs (79.44%) than females (72.73%). The total age-stratified prevalence decreased from age 13 (87.88%) to age 18 (66.66%). Prevalence for UTIs increased from 77.78% (13years) to 81.82% (14years) for males and gradually declined to 71.44% (18years) .Females had the highest prevalence (100.00%) at 13years with the least observed at 18years (50.00%).

Figure 8 shows the different distribution of papC and usp genes in *E. coli* isolates, according to gender. Males had a higher prevalence of the papC gene, compared to females. Both sexes had higher distribution for the usp gene, although there was no significant difference (p> 0.05) between sexes. There was significant difference between usp and papC genes (p= 0.002) and between usp gene and usp + papC genes (p< 0.001). Both sexes also had the least prevalence for both pap C and usp gene identified in an *E. coli* isolate with no significant difference (p> 0.05).





Figure 6: An ethidium bromide-stained agarose gel electrophoregram of amplified *usp* genes of uropathogenic *E. coli* DNA of different template preparation. [C= Control, A and A1= Denatured samples at 120° C, B= Sample without denaturation and M= DNA Marker]



Figure 7: An ethidium bromide-stained agarose gel electrophoregram of amplified *papC* genes in uropathogenic *E. coli* from UTI samples. [C= Control, 1-3= Denatured samples at 120° C and M= DNA Marker]



Figure 8: Distribution of virulence genes in *E. coli* isolates based on sex. [**=significant difference *p*< 0.002, ***= significant difference *p*< 0.0001 at 95% confidence interval]



Figure 9: Mean number of positive tests for the three diagnostic methods. [Bar=SEM, N=195, *=significant difference p < 0.05 at 95% confidence interval]



Figure 10: Sensitivities and specificities of parameters, compared with standard culture used for detecting UTI by *Escherichia coli*. [*=significant difference p< 0.05 at 95% confidence interval]

4.5 Comparison of diagnostic methods

According to figure 9, PCR had a significantly higher mean positive tests, which was more than twice t of both dipstick and culture methods. There was no difference between the means for dipstick and culture.

PCR had the highest sensitivity of 71% observed in figure 10 with significant difference (p < 0.05), compared to that of leukocyte esterase and nitrite. Difference between sensitivity for leukocyte esterase and nitrite was also statistically significant (p < 0.05). Nitrite had the highest specificity of 99%, compared to both leukocyte esterase and PCR with p < 0.05. Difference between sensitivity for leukocyte esterase and PCR was also statistically significant.

Comparatively, the PCR method was the most sensitive (71%) but least specific (24%), as observed in table 8. In contrast, the nitrite parameter had the highest specificity value (99%) and the lowest sensitivity (3%). Compared to both nitrite and PCR, leukocyte esterase had the highest values for both positive (52%) and negative predictive values (76%).

The ROC area under the curve of the PCR against that of the control culture (Fig 11A) shows a value of 0.7231, with statistical significance (p < 0.0001). Figure 11B shows an area of 0.5026 with no statistical significance (p = 0.9302) between the control culture and dipstick. Figure 11C also shows an area of 0.7205 with statistical significance (p < 0.0001) between the control PCR and dipstick.

Table 8: Performance characteristics of dipstick and PCR using culture as standard.

Parameter	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV
Leukocyte				
esterase	52%	76%	52%	76%
Nitrite	3%	99%	1%	68%
PCR	71%	24%	30%	64%

PPV= Positive predictive value, NPV= Negative predictive value



Figure 11: Receiver operator characteristics of the diagnostic methods with respect to ages of participants and number of positive UTI detections. A) Culture versus PCR. B) Culture versus Dipstick and C) PCR versus Dipstick.

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION

The general prevalence of UTI caused by *E. coli* was 30.88% (Table 3), which is lower than the 52.77% value realized in a similar work done in Nigeria (Aiyegoro *et al.*, 2007). The prevalence for this study is also lower than the 44-53% range observed for young adults between the ages of 21 to 30 years in the sub-region (Kolawole *et al.*, 2009). This difference in prevalence could be based on differences in sanitary conditions and observed personal hygiene. Again, the higher prevalence of *E. coli*-causing UTI in adults than the observed value for adolescent sample population may be due to sexual activity (Geerlings *et al.*, 2000).

According to table 4, the mean age of males (15.16 ± 0.14) was significantly higher than females (14.74 ± 0.14) with p value 0.0351. This suggests males are enrolled at older ages compared to females at the junior high school level. Females having a statistically significant (p=0.0142) positive tests (40.90%) for leukocyte esterase parameter of the dipstick than males (24.3%) indicates the higher prevalence of UTI in females than in males. This fact is supported by a significant difference (p=0.0320) in microbial culture which indicated a 39.77% prevalence in females to 25.33% in males.

Results from both table 5 and 6 indicate ages 15 and 17 as having highest prevalence of UTI, using both the dipstick and microbial culture methods. This observation could be explained as being due to an increase in the number of uropathogens due to re-infections which peaks at 15 and 17 years. Thus, these high numbers of uropathogenic *E. coli* were enough to generate leukocyte esterase and nitrite levels detectable by urine dipstick and forming colonies greater than the 10^4 cut-off for diagnosing UTI using microbial culture method. Prevalence of UTI by *E. coli* in table 7 showed a downward trend from peak at ages 14 and 13 for males and females respectively. It could be argued that the trend was due to the PCR method's ability to pick low bacteria cell counts (< 10^4) as positive for UTI. This might have resulted in both the

dipstick and microbial culture methods having UTI prevalence of 31.79% (Tables 5 and 6) while PCR method had 75.88% (Table 7).

The papC gene recorded for males and females were 55.29% and 45.31% respectively and an overall prevalence of 51.01% (Figure 8). This means that about half the numbers of E. coli isolates employ fimbriae formation for adherence to uro-epithelial cells to cause UTI. Moreover, it could be as a result of most of UTI detected being first time infections, requiring pathogen adherence to uro-epithelial cells, in order to colonize the urinary bladder. Hence, pathogens adapt through the production of adhesion structures like papC. The papCprevalence of 51.01% is greater than the 21.1% determined in a Brazilian study (Santo et al., in 2006) and the 45% for immuno-compromised populations in Slovenia (Rijavec et al., 2008). These differences might have arisen from both the sample populations and the composite number of males and females in these populations. It is also possible, strain differences due to geographic locations can be a contributory factor to the deviation from the 94% for non-immuno-compromised in literature (Marrs et al., 2005). However, the difference in distribution with respect to gender could be justified by the fact that isolates from cystitis, a condition that predominates in females, have been found to have low prevalence of *papC*, hence the smaller percentage of 32.95% (Fig 8) determined in females (Ruiz et al., 2002). Moreover, some strains of *E. coli* isolates detected in males with UTI may be involved in first time infections which require adhesion structures made possible by the papC gene, contributing to a higher prevalence of the gene, compared to females. In figure 8, both males and females recorded usp gene as the predominant virulence gene, with 63.53% and 76.56% respectively, although there was no significant difference between genders. However, there was statistical difference between usp and papC gene (p=0.0020). The overall prevalence of 52.82% (Table 4) for the *usp* gene was close to the 68.5% determined for women by Bauer *et* al., (2002) and the 79-93% range in mixed populations in Japanese studies (Kurazono et al.,

2000). This indicates the importance of the *usp* gene for *E. coli* survival and persistence in the microbial community involved in urinary tract infection. Indeed, the higher percentage of *usp* gene, compared to *papC* gene observed in isolates from females could be due to the fact that infection by different uropathogens can be greatly enhanced by the shorter urinary tract of females. This increases the diversity of microbial community within the urinary tract, leading to the acquisition of the *usp* gene by *E. coli* to produce bacteriocin to eliminate competing uropathogens. It can also be argued that some of the UTI recorded might not have been first episode infection, but re-infections made possible by reservoir uropathogens in the urinary tract. Thus, these *E. coli* forming part of the reservoir microbial community must have adapted by resorting to the use of the *usp* gene, to eliminate other competing microbes, by the production of bacteriocin.

The two parameters of dipstick, i.e. leukocyte esterase and nitrite, and PCR were analyzed for their sensitivity, specificity and reliability in detecting UTI among school children in Ashanti region, using the microbial culture method as the gold standard. In table 8, the leukocyte esterase sensitivity of 52% fell out of the 67-94% range for sensitivity components of dipstick urinalysis, employed by the WHO (WHO, 2005). This might have been due to some of the UTI cases detected being in their early stages in the urethra. As a result, these infections could not trigger enough influx of leukocytes, to produce high concentrations of leukocyte esterase for a positive test by colour generation on the dipstick. Moreover, the low sensitivity (52%) could be attributed to dipstick defect in the reactive ingredients for detecting leukocyte esterase, leading to increase in false negatives and decreasing its sensitivity. Concentrated early morning samples may have further reduced the sensitivity of leukocyte esterase, by an increase in number of false negatives (Simerville *et al.*, 2005). It is worth noting that urine contamination may have insignificant effect since there is very minimal difference in results between clean catch and mid-stream urine (Lifshitz and Kramer, 2000). Positive predictive

value of 52% and negative predictive value of 76% for leukocyte esterase (Table 8) is an indication that comparatively, the parameter better serves as an index for correctly eliminating a patient as not having UTI when the test result is negative.

Specificity value of 99% (Fig 10) for nitrite which fell within the range of 90-100% (W.H.O, 2005) is a strong indicator of the parameter correctly testing negative for non-UTI samples. However, the extremely high value may be due to false positives caused by exposure of the dipstick to air. Low sensitivity (3%) for nitrite may have been primarily caused by low nitrate diets leading to corresponding low levels of nitrite by nitrate reductase-negative microorganisms which could not show positive tests for UTI positive samples. In addition, a positive predictive value of 1% is an indication of nitrite having a very low likelihood of a patient having the disease given that the test is positive. On the other hand, the negative predictive value of 68% is of relevance to a physician as it shows nitrite has a higher probability for an individual not having UTI when the test is negative.

With reference to the ROC analyses, the dipstick test, compared to the standard culture method, gave an area of 0.5026 ± 0.02927 which is close to the 0.5 value indicative of a poor test method (Fig 11B). Moreover the *p* value of 0.9302 shows there is little difference between the performance of dipstick and culture test. When the dipstick was compared to the PCR method (Fig 11C), the ROC curve for dipstick was below that of PCR, indicating the superiority of PCR to dipstick with statistical significance (*p*< 0.0001). The PCR sensitivity of 71% (Fig 10) which falls within the range of both sensitivity ranges for leukocyte esterase (67-94%) and nitrite (15-82%) is indicative of PCR being a good technique for detecting the low presence of uropathogens in urine samples. However, the 29% samples with *E. coli* undetected by PCR could probably have been due to sampling of DNA template from solution. Moreover, a lower specificity of 24% (Fig 10) could be linked to false positives arising from a less sensitive culture standard, unable to detect some uropathogens or the PCR

detecting the low presence of *E. coli* without satisfying any set quantitative threshold comparable to the 10^4 CFU/mL cut-off used in the culture standard for diagnosis. This resultant rise in false positives had an effect on the positive predictive value (Table 8) of PCR (30%) as a diagnostic tool in UTI. The area under the curve (0.7231) for the ROC analyses (Fig 11A) for the culture versus PCR indicates PCR's higher ability to positively detect UTI since this value is closer to the 1.0000 for that of a perfect test method.

A UTI prevalence of 30.88% obtained in this study raises concern, as it could have serious immediate or future repercussions. Fevers and pains associated with symptoms of UTI can disrupt the sound frame of mind needed by school-going adolescents to study and this has the potential to lower academic performance of students. Infected adolescents could also grow anaemic in advanced stages of the infection, due to kidney damage. This is as a result of deficiency in production of the hormone erythropoietin in the kidneys which controls red blood cell formation. Undiagnosed and untreated asymptomatic UTI could also progress into kidney failure and hypertension in adulthood, which has the tendency to cause death and hence shortening of life expectancy (Zorc *et al.*, 2005). In effect, the nation's future skilled labour will be affected by morbidity and mortality, leading to reduction in productivity. Moreover, it could increase the burden on the country's health facilities. There is therefore the need to diagnose UTI with superior methods like PCR, to ensure that sub-clinical UTIs are promptly detected for appropriate intervention.

Currently, microbiological culture remains the standard method for UTI diagnoses and prevalence determination. However, established data indicate that culture results could be contaminated by pathogens of faecal origin (Simerville *et al.*, 2005), and this is a major shortcoming of the microbiological culture method. PCR method for diagnosing UTI, on the other hand can be strain-specific, depending on the set of primers used for diagnosis, as shown by this study. Moreover, performance comparison between PCR and microbiological culture (Fig 11A) showed its superiority as a diagnostic method. Thus, PCR provides a more reliable result for UTI screening with respect to pathogen strain specificity.

5.1 CONCLUSIONS

The PCR method had the highest mean number (25) of positive detections of UTI caused by uropathogenic E. coli, compared to the standard culture (10) and the dipstick (10) parameters (i.e. leukocyte esterase and nitrite). Moreover, PCR had the highest sensitivity for diagnosing UTI when compared to the standard culture, and this is an indication of the PCR method being a superior diagnostic tool for detecting UTI. ROC curve area values of 0.7231 ± 0.0262 , p < 0.0001 and 0.7205 ± 0.0262 , p < 0.0001 when PCR was compared to the microbiological culture method and dipstick method respectively, is an indication of PCR being a superior diagnostic method. Furthermore, an ROC curve area value close to 0.5 with no significant difference $(0.5026 \pm 0.02927, p = 0.9302)$ observed upon comparing the microbiological culture method to the dipstick method shows there is no difference between the two in their ability to detect UTI. The low specificity recorded for PCR is an indication that the method requires another to augment the shortfall in its diagnostic power. Hence, the PCR method can be best used as a complementary tool rather than a single diagnostic tool for detecting UTI. The leukocyte esterase parameter in dipstick urinalysis had the highest values for both positive predictive value and negative predictive value, which makes it a single parameter of great significance to the physician in diagnosing patients with UTI.

High UTI prevalence was realized at 15 and 17 years using the standard microbial culture method, which gives an indication of increasing number of uropathogenic *E. coli* in the urinary tract through the adolescent stage. This trend could be due to re-infections. In addition, age 15 was observed to have the highest prevalence of UTI by all three methods, an indication of a peak in infection at this age.

A higher distribution of the papC gene in uropathogenic *E. coli* isolates in the male adolescent population may be due to the use of adhesion factors to help attach to uroepithelial cells in first time infections. It is possible most of the UTI detected in the adolescent females may have been re-infections by reservoir uropathogens from previous infections, which may had evolved to produce the bacteriocin toxin by the *usp* gene. This resulted in a significantly higher distribution of the *usp* gene compared to *papC* gene. Furthermore, males also having a high distribution of *usp* gene in *E. coli* isolates from their urine samples suggests UTI is mainly caused by different microorganisms in the urinary tract.

5.2 RECOMMENDATIONS

The study should be carried out in a population of higher age profile to compare results obtained by the PCR method.

More work should be done on other virulence genes with other populations to ascertain the distribution of these genes to help identify which treatment would best relieve patients of UTI.

A quantitative criterion for PCR work on UTI, comparable to the $\geq 10^4$ or 10^5 colony forming units per mL should be determined.

The general populace should be educated on UTI, its repercussions and how it could be prevented.

REFERENCES

Abraham, J.M., Freitag C.S., Gander R.M., Clements J.R., Thomas V.L. and Eisenstein B.I. (1986) Fimbrial phase variation and DNA rearrangements in uropathogenic isolates of *Escherichia coli. Mol. Biol. Med.* **3**, 495-508.

Abraham, S.N., Goguen J.D. and Beachey, E.H. (1988) Hyperadhesive mutant of type 1-fimbriated *Escherichia coli* associated with formation of *FimH* organelles (fimbriosomes). *Infect. Immun.* **56**, 1023-1029.

Abraham, S.N., Goguen, J.D., Sun, D., Klemm, P. and Beachey, E.H. (1987) Identification of two ancillary subunits of *Escherichia coli* type 1 fimbriae by using antibodies against synthetic oligopeptides of *fim* gene products. *J. Bacteriol.* **169**, 5530-5536.

Ahmed, Z. and Lee, J. (1997) Asymptomatic urinary abnormalities. Hematuria and proteinuria. *Med Clin North Am.* **81**, 641-652.

Aiyegoro, O.A., Igbinosa, O.O., Ogunmwonyi, I.N., Odjadjare, E.E., Igbinosa, O.E. and Okoh, A.I. (2007) Incidence of urinary tract infections (UTI) among children and adolescents in Ile-Ife, Nigeria. *Afri. J Microbiol. Res.* **1**, 13-19.

Akerele, P. and Okonofua, J.A. (2001) Prevalence of asymptomatic bacteriuria among pregnant women in Benin City, Nigeria. *J Obstet Gynaecol.* **21**, 141-144.

Akinkugbe, F.M., Familusi, F.B. and Akinkugbe, O. (1973) Urinary tract infection in infancy and early childhood. *East Afr. Med. J.* **59**, 514-520.

Akobeng, A.K., (2006) Understanding diagnostic test: Sensitivity, specificity and predictive values. *Acta Paediatrica*. **96**, 338-341.

Altman, D.G. and Bland J.M. (1994) Diagnostic tests 2: Predictive values. BMJ. 309, 102.

Andreoli, S.P., Trachtman, H., Acheson, D.W., Siegler, R.L. and Obrig, T.G. (2002) Hemolytic uremic syndrome: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and therapy. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* **17**, 293–298.

Apfalter, P., Blasi, F., Boman, J., Gaydos, C.A., Kundi, M., Maass, M., Makristathis, A., Meijer, A., R., Nadrchal, R., K., Persson, K., Rotter, M.L., Tong, C.Y., Stanek, G. and Hirschl, A.M. (2001) Multicenter comparison trial of DNA extraction methods and PCR assays for detection of *Chlamydia pneumoniae* in endarterectomy specimens. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **39**, 519–524.

Arthur, L.B., Smith, P.B. and Marvin, T. (1975) Clinical consideration: laboratory diagnosis of UTI. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci.USA.* **2**, 1-4.

Arthur, M., Johnson, C.E., Rubin, R.H., Arbeit, R.D., Campanelli, C., Kim, C., Steinbach, S., Agarwal, M., Wilkinson, R. and Goldstein, R. (1989) Molecular epidemiology of adhesin and hemolysin virulence factors among uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infect. Immun.* **57**, 303-313.

Asharam, K., Bhimma, R. and Adikhari, M. (2003) Human immunodeficiency virus and urinary tract infections in children. *Annals of Tropical Paediatrics*. **23**, 273-277.

Babaoye, F.A., Ogala, W.N. and Muhammad, I. (1991) Dysuria in infancy and childhood: an analysis of 42 children presenting in the paediatrics outpatients department. *East African Medical Journal.* **68**, 860-864.

Baddour, L.M., Christensen, G.D., Simpson, W.A. and Beachey, E.H. (1990) Microbial adherence; Principles and practice of infectious diseases, 3rd edition, Churchill Livingstone. *New York*,pp 9-25.

Baga, M., Normark, S., Hardy, J., O'Hanley, P., Lark, D., Olsson, O., Schoolnik, G. and Falkow, S. (1984) Nucleotide sequence of the *papA* gene encoding the *pap* pilus subunit of human uropathogenic *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* **157**, 330-333.

Bagg, A. and Neilands, J.B. (1987a) Ferric uptake regulation protein acts as a repressor, employing iron (II) as a cofactor to bind the operator of an iron transport operon in *Escherichia coli*. *Biochemistry*. **26**, 5471-5477.

Bagg, A. and Neilands, J.B. (1987b) Molecular mechanism of regulation of siderophoremediated iron assimilation. *Microbiol. Rev.* **51**, 509-518.

Bagga, A., Tripathi, P., Jatana, V., Hari, P., Kapil, A., Srivastasa, R.N. and Bhan, M.K. (2003) Bacteriuria and urinary tract infections in malnourished children. *Pediatric Nephrology.* **18**, 366-370.

Banapurmath, C. and Jayamony, S. (1994) Prevalence of urinary tract infection in severely malnourished pre-school children. *Indian Pediatrics*. **31**, 679-682.

Bass, P.F., Jarvis, J.A. and Mitchell, C.K. (2003) Urinary tract infections. *Prim Care.* **30**, 41-61.

Bauer, R.J., Zhang, L., Foxman, B., Siitonen, A., Jantunen, M.E., Saxen, H. and Marr, C.F. (2002) Molecular epidemiology of 3 putative virulence genes for *Escherichia coli* urinary tract infection—*usp*, *iha*, and *iroN E. coli*. *J. Infectious Dis*.**185**, 1521-1524.

Bergeron, M.G. (1995) Treatment of pyelonephritis in adults. *Med Clin North Am.* **79**, 619–649.

Bernet-Camard, M.F., Coconnier, M.H., Hudault, S. and Servin, A.L. (1996) Pathogenicity of the diffusely adhering strain *Escherichia coli* C1845: F1845 adhesin-decay accelerating factor interaction, brush border microvillus injury, and actin disassembly in cultured human intestinal epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* **64**, 1918–1928.

Beutin, L., Prada, J., Zimmermann, S., Stephan, R., Orskov, I. and Orskov, F. (1988) Enterohemolysin, a new type of hemolysin produced by some strains of enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC). *Zentralbl. Bakteriol. Hyg. A.* **267**, 576-588.

Bhakdi, S., Greulich, S., Muhly, M., Eberspacher, B., Becker, H., Thiele, A. and Hugo, F. (1989) Potent leukocidal action of *Escherichia coli* hemolysin mediated by permeabilization of target cell membranes. *J. Exp. Med.* **169**, 737-754.

Bhakdi, S., Mackman, N., Menestrina, G., Gray, L., Hugo, F., Seeger, W. and Holland, I.B. (1988) The hemolysin of *Escherichia coli. Eur. J. Epidemiol.* **4**, 135-143.

Bhakdi, S., Mackman, N., Nicaud, J.M. and Holland, I.B. (1986) *Escherichia coli* hemolysin may damage target cell membranes by generating transmembrane pores. *Infect. Immun.* **52**, 63-69.

Bindereif, A. and Neilands, J.B. (1983) Cloning of the aerobactin-mediated iron assimilation system of plasmid ColV. *J. Bacteriol.* **153**, 1111-1113.

Blanco, J., Blanco, M., Alonso, M.P., Blanco, J.E., Gonzales, E.A. and Garabal, J.I. (1992) Characteristics of haemolytic *Escherichia coli* with particular reference to production of cytotoxic necrotizing factor type 1. *Res. Microbiol.* **143**, 869–878.

Bohach, G.A. and Snyder, I.S. (1985) Chemical and immunological analysis of the complex structure of *Escherichia coli* alpha-hemolysin. *J. Bacteriol.* **164**, 1071-1080.

Bouquillon, C., Dewilde, A., Andreoletti, L., Lambert, V., Chieux, V., Gerard, Y., Lion, G., Bocket, L. and Wattre, P. (2000) Simultaneous detection of 6 human herpesviruses in cerebrospinal fluid and aqueous fluid by a single PCR using stair primers. *J. Med. Virol.* **62**, 349–353.

Boyko E.J., Fihn S.D., Scholes D., Abraham L. and Monsey B. (2005) Risk of urinary tract infection and asymptomatic bacteriuria among diabetic and nondiabetic postmenopausal women. *Am J Epidemiol.* **161**, 557–564

Braun, V., Brazel-Faisst, C. and Schneider, R. (1984) Growth stimulation of *Escherichia coli* in serum by iron(III) aerobactin. Recycling of aerobactin. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **21**, 99-103.

Brendler, C.B. (1998) Evaluation of the urologic patient: history, physical examination and urinalysis. In: Campbell, M.F., Walsh, P.C., Campbell's Urology, 7th edition, Saunders, Philadelphia.pp 144-156.

Brooks, H.J.L., Benseman, B.A. and Peck, J. (1981) Correlation between uropathogenic properties of *Escherichia coli* from urinary tract infections and the antibody-coated bacteria test and comparison with faecal strains. *J. Hyg.* **87**, 53-61.

Bruce, A.W., Chan, R.C.Y., Pinkerton, D., Morales, A. and Chadwick, P. (1983) Adherence of gram-negative uropathogens to human uroepithelial cells. *J. Urol.* **130**, 293-298.

Capo, C., Meconi, S., Sanguedolce, M.V., Bardin, N., Flatau, G., Boquet, P. and Mege, J.L. (1998) Effect of cytotoxic necrotizing factor-1 on actin cytoskeleton in human monocytes: role in the regulation of integrindependent phagocytosis. *J. Immunol.* **161**, 4301–4308.

Caprioli, A., Falbo, V., Roda, L.G., Ruggeri, F.M. and Zona, C. (1983) Partial purification and characterization of an *Escherichia coli* toxic factor that induces morphological alterations. *Infect. Immun.* **39**, 1300–1306.

Carbonetti, N.H. and Williams, P.H. (1984) A cluster of five genes specifying the aerobactin iron uptake system of plasmid ColV-K30. *Infect. Immun.* **46**, 7-12.

Chant, J. and Stowers, L. (1995) GTPase cascades choreographing cellular behavior: movement, morphogenesis, and more. *Cell.* **81**, 1–4.

Cheesbrough, M., (2006) District laboratory practice for tropical countries Part 2, 2nd edition, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, page 105.

Clement, J. and Heyman, P. (1997) PCR for diagnosis of viral infections of the central nervous system. *Lancet.* **349**, 1256.

Cochran, W. (1950) Estimation of bacterial densities by means of Most Probable Number. *Biometrics*. **6**, 105-116.

Colwell, R. R., (2000). Viable but non-culturablebacteria: a survival strategy. J Infect Chemother. 6, 121-125.

Connolly, A. and Thorp, J.M. (1999) Urinary tract infection in pregnancy. Urol Clin North Am. 26, 779-787.

Crain, E. and Gerschel, J.C. (1990) Urinary tract infections in febrile infants younger than 8 weeks of age. *Pediatr.* **86**, 363-367.

Crowley, D.E., Wang, Y.C., Reid, C.P.P. and Szanislo, P.J. (1991) Mechanisms of iron acquisition from siderophores by microorganisms and plants. *Plant and Soil.* **130**, 179-198.

Czeczulin, J.R., Balepur, S., Hicks, S., Philips, A., Hall, R. and Kothary, M.H. (1997) Aggregative adherence fimbria II, a second fimbrial antigen mediating aggregative adherence in enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. *Infect. Immun.* **65**, 4135–4145.

de Lorenzo, V. and Martinez, J.L. (1988) Aerobactin production as a virulence factor: a reevaluation. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* **7**, 621-629.

de Lorenzo, V. and Neilands, J.B. (1986) Characterization of *iucA* and *iucC* genes of the aerobactin system of plasmid ColV-K30 in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 167, 350-355.

de Man, P., Cedergren, B., Enerback, S., Larsson, A.C., Leffler, H., Lundell, A.L., Nilsson, B.and Eden, C.S.(1987) Receptor-specific agglutination tests for detection of bacteria that bind globoseries glycolipids. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **25**, 401-406.

Delzelle, J.E. and Leferre, M.L. (2000) Urinary tract infections during pregnancy. Am Fam Physician. **61**, 713-721.

Dennett, C., Klapper, P.E., Cleator, G.M. and Lewis, A.G. (1991) CSF pretreatment and the diagnosis of herpes encephalitis using the polymerase chain reaction. *J. Virol. Methods.* **34**, 101–104.

Deresinski, S. (1995) Infections in the diabetic patient: Strategies for the clinician. *Infect. Dis. Rep.* **1**, 1-12.

Deville, W.L., Yzermans, J.C., van Duijn, N.P., Bezemer, P.D., van der Windt, D.A. and Bouter, L.M. (2004) The urine dipstick test useful to rule out infections. A meta-analysis of the accuracy. *BMC Urol.* **4**, 4.

Dowling, K., Roberts, J.A. and Kaack, M.B. (1987) P-fimbriated *Escherichia coli* urinary tract infection: a clinical correlation. *South. Med. J.* **80**, 1533-1536.

Duerden, B.I., Reid, T.M.S., Jewsbury, J.M. and Turk, D.C. (1990) A New Short book of Medical Parasitic Infection, ELBS Publishers, London. pp 576-582.

Duncan, J. L. (1988) Differential effect of Tamm-Horsfall protein on adherence of *Escherichia coli* to transitional epithelial cells. *J. Infect. Dis.* **158**, 1379-1382.

Eisenstein, B. I. (1988). Type 1 fimbriae of *Escherichia coli*: genetic regulation, morphogenesis, and role in pathogenesis. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* **10**, 341-344.

Ejaz, H., Zafar, A., Anwar, N., Cheema, T.A. and Shehzad, H. (2006) Prevalence of bacteria in urinary tract infections among children. *Biomedica*. **22**, 139-142.

Emmerson, A.M., Enstone, J.E. and Griffin, M., (1996) The second national prevalence survey of infection in hospitals-overview of the results. *J Hosp Infect.* **32**: 175-190.

Epoke, C.O., Anyanwu, G.O. and Opara, A.A. (2000) The Prevalence of significant bacteriuria in diabetic patients. *Diabetic International*. **10**, 16-17.

Evans, D.J., Evans, D.G., Young, L.S. and Pitt, J. (1980) Hemagglutination typing of *Escherichia coli*: definition of seven hemagglutination types. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **12**, 235-242.

Falkowski, W., Edwards, M. and Schaeffer, A.J. (1986) Inhibitory effect of substituted aromatic hydrocarbons on adherence of *Escherichia coli* to human epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* **52**, 863-866.

Felmlee, T., Pellett, S. and Welch, R.A. (1985) Nucleotide sequence of an *Escherichia coli* chromosomal hemolysin. *J. Bacteriol.* **163**, 94-105.

Fiorentini, C., Fabbri, A., Mataresse, P., Falzano, L., Boquet, P. and Malorni, W. (1997) Hinderance of apoptosis and phagocytic behaviour induced by *Escherichia coli* cytotoxic necrotizing factor 1: two related activities in epithelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **241**, 341–346.

Fiorentini, C., Matarrese, P., Straface, E., Falzano, L., Donelli, G., Boquet, P. and Malorni, W. (1998) *Rho*-dependent cell spreading activated by *Escherichia coli* cytotoxic necrotizing factor 1 hinders apoptosis in epithelial cells. *Cell Death Differ*. **5**, 921–929.

Flatau, G., Lemichez, E., Gauthier, M., Chardin, P., Paris, S., Fiorentini, C. and Boquet, P. (1997) Toxin induced activation of the G protein *p21 Rho* by deamidation of glutamine. *Nature*. **387**, 729–733.

Foxman, B. (2002) Epidemiology of urinary tract infections: Incidence, morbidity, and economic costs. *Am J Med.* **113(1A)**, 5S–13S.

Foxman, B., Barlow, R., d'Arcy H., Gillespie, B. and Sobel, J.D. (2000) Urinary tract infection: estimated incidence and associated costs. *Ann. Epidemiol.* **10**, 509–515.

Gadeberg, O.V. and Larsen, S.O. (1988) *In vitro* cytotoxic effect of a-hemolytic *Escherichia coli* on human blood granulocytes. Correlation with size of a-haemolysin production. *Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Immunol. Scand.* **96**, 337-341.

Gallagher, E.J., Schwartz, E. and Weinstein, R.S. (1990) Performance characteristics of urine dipsticks stored in open containers. *Am J Emerg Med.* **8**, 121-123.
Gander, R.M. and Thomas, V.L. (1987) Distribution of type 1 and P pili on uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* 06. *Infect. Immun.* **55**, 293-297.

Geerlings, S.E., Stolk, R.P., Camps, M.J., Netten, P.M., Collet, T.J. and Hoepelman, A.I. (2000) Risk factors for symptomatic urinary tract infection in women with diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* **23**, 1737–1741.

Gorelick, M. and Shaw, K. (1999) Screening tests for urinary tract infection in children: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*. **104**, 54.

Gross-Weege, W., Konig, W., Scheffer, J. and Nimmich, W. (1988) Induction of histamine release from rat mast cells and human basophilic granulocytes by clinical *Escherichia coli* isolates and relation to hemolysin production and adhesin expression. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **26**, 1831-1837.

Gross, R., Engelbrecht, F. and Braun, V. (1984) Genetic and biochemical characterization of the aerobactin synthesis operon on pColV. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* **196**, 74-80.

Hacker, J., Schroter, G., Schrettenbrunner, A., Hughes, C. and Goebel, W. (1983) Hemolytic *Escherichia coli* strains in the human fecal flora as potential urinary pathogens. *Zentralbl. Bakteriol. Hyg. I Abt. Orig. A.* **254**, 370-378.

Hales, B.A. and Amyes, S.G.B. (1985) The effect of a range of antimicrobial drugs on the haemagglutination of two clinical isolates from urinary tract infections. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* **16**, 671-674.

Hanno, P.M. (2007) Painful bladder syndrome/interstitial cystitis and related disorders In: Wein, A.J., (Eds) Campbell-Walsh Urology, 9th edition, Saunders, Philadelphia. pp 330-370.

He, Q., Marjamaki, M., Soini, H., Mertsola, J. and Viljanen, M.K. (1994) Primers are decisive for sensitivity of PCR. *BioTechniques*. 17, 82–87.

Henley, J.A. and McNeil, B.J. (1982) The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. *Radiology*. **143**, 29-36.

Higgins, L.M., Frankel, G., Connerton, I., Goncalves S., Dougan, G. and MacDonald, T.T. (1999) Role of bacterial intimin in colonic hyperplasia and inflammation. *Science*. **285**, 588–591.

Hilden, J. (1991) The area under the ROC curve and its competitors. *Med Decis Making*. **11**, 95-101.

Hoberman, A., Chao, H.P., Keller, D.M., Hickey, R., Davis, H.W. and Ellis, D. (1993) Prevalence of urinary tract infection in febrile infants. *J Pediatr.* **123**, 17–23.

Hoberman, A. and Wald, E.R. (1997) Urinary tract infections in young febrile children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* **16**, 11–17.

Hooton, T.M., Sholes, D., Stapleton, A.E., Roberts, P.L., Winter, C., Guputa, K., Samadpour, M. and Stamm, W.E. (2000) A prospective study of asymptomatic bacteriuria in sexually active young women. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **343**, 992–997.

Hooton, T.M. and Stamm, W.E. (1996) The vaginal flora and urinary tract infections. *In*: Mobley, H.L.T. and Warren, J.W., (Eds) Urinary Tract Infections: Molecular Pathogenesis and Clinical Management, 1st ed, American Society for Microbiology, Washington. p 67.

Hultgren, S.J., Schwan, W.R., Schaeffer, A.J. and Duncan, J.L. (1986) Regulation of production of type 1 pili among urinary tract isolates of *Escherichia coli*. *Infect. Immun.* **54**, 613-620.

Hurlbut, T.A. and Littenburg, B. (1991) The diagnostic accuracy of rapid dipstick tests to predict urinary tract infections. *Am J Clin Pathol.* **96**, 582-586.

Imade, P.E., Izekor, P.E., Eghafona, N.O., Enabulele, O.I. and Ophori, E. (2010) Asymptomatic bacteriuria among pregnant women. *N. Am. J. Med. Sci.* **2**, 263-266.

Jacobson, S.H., Eklof, O., Eriksson, C.G., Lins, L.E., Tidgren, B. and Winberg, J. (1989) Development of hypertension and uraemia after pyelonephritis in childhood:27 year followup. *Br. Med. J.* **299**, 703–706.

Jantausch, B.A., Criss, V.R., O'Donnell, R., Wiedermann, B.L., Majd, M., Rushton, H.G., Shirey, R.S. and Luban, N.L. (1994) Association of Lewis blood group phenotypes with urinary tract infection in children. *J. Pediatr.* **124**, 863-868.

Jerse, A.E., Yu, J., Tall, B.D. and Kaper, J.B. (1990) A genetic locus of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* necessary for the production of attaching and effacing lesions on tissue culture cells. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA.* **87**, 7839–7843.

Johnson, J.R. (1991) Virulence factors in *Escherichia coli* urinary tract infection. *Clin Microbiology Review.* **4**, 80-120.

Johnson, J.R., Moseley, S.L., Roberts, P.L. and Stamm, W.E. (1988) Aerobactin and other virulence factor genes among strains of *Escherichia coli* causing urosepsis: association with patient characteristics. *Infect. Immun.* **56**, 405-412.

Jorgensen, S.E., Mulcahy, P.F. and Louis, C.F. (1986) Effect of *Escherichia coli* haemolysin on permeability of erythrocyte membranes to calcium. *Toxicon.* **24**, 559-566.

Kanamaru S., Kurazono H., Ishitoya S., Terai A., Habuchi T., Nakano M. and Ogawa O. (2003) Distribuiton and genetic association of putative uropathogenic virulence factors *iroN*, *iha*, *kpsMT*, *ompT* and *usp* in *Escherichia coli* isolated from urinary tract infections in Japan. *J Urol.* **170**, 2490–2493.

Kaper, J.B., Nataro, J.P. and Mobley, H.L.T. (2004) Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. **2**, 123-140.

Kass, E.H. (1956) Asymptomatic infections of the urinary tract. *Trans. Assoc. Am. Physicians.* **69**, 56–64.

Keane, W.F., Welch, R., Gekker, G. and Peterson, P.K. (1987) Mechanism of *Escherichia coli* a-hemolysin-induced injury to isolated renal tubular cells. *Am. J. Pathol.* **126**, 350-357.

Kitchin, P., Szotyori, A.Z., Fromholc, C. and Almond, N. (1990) Avoidance of PCR false positives [corrected]. *Nature*. **344**, 201.

Kolawole, A.S., Kolawole, O.M., Kandaki-Olukemi, Y.T., Babatunde, S.K., Durowade, K. A. and Kolawole, C.F. (2009) Prevalence of urinary tract infections (UTI) among patients attending Dalhatu Araf Specialist Hospital, Lafia, Nasarawa State, Nigeria. *Int. J. Med. Med. Sci* **1**, 163-167.

Korhonen, T.K., Virkola, R., Vaisanen-Rhen, V. and Holthofer, H. (1986) Binding of purified *Escherichia coli* 075X adhesin to frozen sections of human kidney. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* **35**, 313-318.

Kroncke, K.D., Boulnois, G., Roberts, I., Bitter-Suermann, D., Golecki, J.R., Jann, B. and Jann, K. (1990) Expression of the *Escherichia coli* KS capsular antigen: immunoelectron microscopic and biochemical studies with recombinant *E. coli. J. Bacteriol.* **172**, 1085-1091.

Kunin, C.M. (1970) A ten-year study of bacteriuria in schoolgirls: final report of bacteriologic, urologic, and epidemiologic findings. *J. Infect. Dis.* **122**, 382–393.

Kurazono, H., Yamamoto, S., Nakano, M., Nair, G.B., Terai, A., Chaicumpa, W. and Hayashi, H. (2000) Characterization of a putative virulence island in the chromosome of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* possessing a gene encoding a uropathogenic-specific protein. *Microb Pathog.* **28**, 183-189.

Kwok, S. and Higuchi, R. (1989) Avoiding false positives with PCR. Nature. 339, 237–238.

Labigne-Roussel, A. and Falkow, S. (1988) Distribution and degree of heterogeneity of the afimbrial-adhesin-encoding operon (*afa*) among uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* isolates. *Infect. Immun.* **56**, 640-648.

Labigne-Roussel, A., Schmidt, M.A., Walz, W. and Falkow, S. (1985) Genetic organization of the afimbrial adhesin operon and nucleotide sequence from a uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* gene encoding an afimbrial adhesin. *J. Bacteriol.* **162**, 1285-1292.

Landraud, L., Gauthier, M., Fosse, T. and Boquet, P. (2000) Frequency of *Escherichia coli* strains producing the cytotoxic necrotizing factor (CNF1) in nocosomial urinary tract infections. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* **30**, 213–216.

Lalkhen, A.G. and McCluskey, A. (2008) Clinical tests: Sensitivity and specificity, continuing education in anaesthesia. *Critical Care and Pain*. **8**: 221-223.

Lerm, M., Selzer, J., Hoffmeyer, A., Rapp, U.R., Aktories, K. and Schmidt, G. (1999) Deamidation of *Cdc42* and *rac* by *Escherichia coli* cytotoxic necrotizing factor-1: activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in HeLa cells. *Infect. Immun.* **67**, 496–503.

Le Bouguenec, C., Archambaud, M. and Labigne, A. (1992) Rapid and specific detection of the *pap, afa*, and *sfa* adhesin-encoding operons in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* strains by Polymerase Chain Reaction. J. Clinical Microbiol. **30**, 1189-1193

Lifshitz, E. and Kramer, L. (2000) Outpatient urine culture: does collection technique matter? *Arch Intern Med.* **160**, 2537-2540.

Lindberg, F., Lund, B., Johansson, L. and Normark, S. (1987) Localization of the receptorbinding protein adhesin at the tip of the bacterial pilus. *Nature*. **328**, 84-87.

Lindberg, F.P., Lund, B. and Normark, S. (1984) Genes of pyelonephritogenic *Escherichia coli* required for digalactoside specific agglutination of human cells. *EMBO J.* **3**, 1167-1173.

Linshaw, M. (1996) Asymptomatic bacteriuria and vesicoureteral reflux in children. *Kidney Int.* **50**, 312.

Lomberg, H., Cedergren, B., Leffler, H., Nilsson, B., Carlstrom, A.S. and Eden, C.S. (1986) Influence of blood group on the availability of receptors for attachment of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli. Infect. Immun.* **51**, 919-926.

Lomberg, H., Helistrom, M., Jodal, U., Leffler, H., Lincoln, K. and Eden, C.S. (1984) Virulence-associated traits in *Escherichia coli* causing first and recurrent episodes of urinary tract infection in children with or without vesicoureteral reflux. *J. Infect. Dis.* **150**, 561-569.

Longe, A., Omene, J. and Okolo, A.A. (1984) Neonatal meningitis in Nigerian infants. *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavia*. **73**, 477-481.

Loong, T.W. (2003) Understanding sensitivity and specificity with the right side of the brain. *BMJ*. **327**: 716-719.

Lucas, M.J. and Cunningham, F.G. (1993) Urinary tract infection in pregnancy. *Clinical Obstet. Gynaecol.* **36**, 555-568.

Lund, B., Lindberg, F., Marklund, B.I. and Normark, S. (1987) The *papG* protein is the a-D-galactopyranosyl-(1-4)-p-D-galactopyranose-binding adhesin of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **84**, 5898-5902.

Lutters, M. and Vogt, N. (2000) Antibiotics duration for treating uncomplicated, symptomatic lower urinary tract infections in elderly women. *Cochrane Database Systematic Rev.* **2**, 255-258.

Mackman, N., Nicaud, J.M., Gray, L. and Holland, I.B. (1986) Secretion of haemolysin by *Escherichia coli. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **125**, 159-181.

Marcus, D.M., Kundu, S.K. and Suzuki, A. (1981) The P blood group system: recent progress in immunochemistry and genetics. *Semin. Hematol.* **18**, 63-71.

Mariani, A.J., Mariani, M.C., Macchioni, C., Stams, U.K., Hariharan, A. and Moriera, A. (1989) The significance of adult hematuria: 1,000 hematuria evaluations including a risk-benefit and cost-effectiveness analysis. *J Urol.* **141**, 350-355.

Marrs, C.F., Zhang, L. and Foxman, B. (2005) *Escherichia coli* mediated urinary tract infections: Are there distinct uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) pathotypes? *FEMS Microbiology Letters*. **252**, 183–190.

McDaniel, T.K., Jarvis, K.G., Donnenberg, M.S. and Kaper, J.B. (1995) A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. **92**, 1664–1668.

Melton-Celsa, A.R. and O'Brien, A.D. (1998) *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other Shiga Toxin-Producing *E. coli* Strains, 1st edition, ASM Press, Washington DC, pp 121-128.

Metz, C.E. (1986) ROC Methodology in radiologic imaging. Invest Radiol. 21: 720-733.

Mussa-Aisien, A., Ibadin, O.M., Ukoh, G. and Akpede, G.O. (2003) Prevalence and antimicrobial sensitivity pattern in urinary tract infection under 5 years at a children's emergency unit in Nigeria. *Annals of Tropical Paediatrics*. **23**, 39-45.

Nakano, M., Yamamoto, S., Terai, A., Ogawa, O., Makino, S.I., Hayashi, H., Nair, G.B. and Kurazono, H. (2001) Structural and sequence diversity of the pathogenicity island of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* which encodes the *Usp* protein. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* **205**, 71-76.

Nataro, J.P., Deng, Y., Maneval, D.R., German, A.L., Martin, W.C. and Levine, M.M. (1992) Aggregative adherence fimbriae I of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* mediate adherence to *HEp-2* cells and hemagglutination of human erythrocytes. *Infect. Immun.* **60**, 2297–2304.

Nataro, J.P. and Kaper, J.B. (1998) Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli*. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **11**, 142–201.

Nataro, J.P., Steiner, T.S. and Guerrant, R.L. (1998) Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **4**, 251–261.

Nataro, J.P., Yikang, D., Yingkang, D. and Walker, K. (1994) *AggR*, a transcriptional activator of aggregative adherence fimbria I expression in enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. *J. Bacteriol.* **176**, 4691–4699.

Neeser, J.R., Koelireutter, B. and Wuersch, P. (1986) Oligomannoside-type glycopeptides inhibiting adhesion of *Escherichia coli* strains mediated by type 1 pili: preparation of potent inhibitors from plant glycoproteins. *Infect. Immun.* **52**, 428-436.

Neilands, J.B., Bindereif, A. and Montgomerie, J.Z. (1985) Genetic basis of iron assimilation in pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **118**, 179-195.

Nicolle, L. (1994) Screening for asymptomatic bacteriuria in pregnancy. Canadian Guide on Preventive Health Care, Ottawa Health, Canada. pp 100-106.

Nowicki, B., Eden, C.S., Hull, R. and Hull, S. (1989) Molecular analysis and epidemiology of the Dr hemagglutinin of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infect. Immun.* **57**, 446-451.

Nowicki, B., Labigne, A., Moseley, S., Hull, R., Hull, S. and Moulds, J. (1990) The Dr hemagglutinin, afimbrial adhesins *AFA-I* and *AFA-III*, and *F1845* fimbriae of uropathogenic and diarrhoea-associated *Escherichia coli* belong to a family of hemagglutinins with Dr receptor recognition. *Infect. Immun.* **58**, 279-281.

Nowicki, B., Rhen, M., Vaisanen-Rhen, V., Pere, A. and Korhonen, T.K. (1984) Immunofluorescence study of fimbrial phase variation in *Escherichia coli* KS71. *J. Bacteriol.* **160**, 691-695.

Oladeinde, B.H., Omoregie, R., Olley, M. and Anunibe, J.A. (2011) Urinary tract infection in a rural community of Nigeria. *North Am J Med Sci.* **3**, 75-77.

Orenstein, R. and Wong, E.S. (1999) Urinary tract infections in adults. *Am. Family Phys.* 59, 1225-1234.

Ottem, D.P., Carr, L.K., Perks, A.E., Lee, P. and Teichman, J.M.H. (2007) Interstitial cystitis and female sexual dysfunction. *Urology*. **69**, 608-610.

Parkkinen, J., Ristimaki, A. and Westerlund, B. (1989) Binding of *Escherichia coli* S fimbriae to cultured human endothelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* **57**, 2256-2259.

Parry, S.H. and Rooke, D.M. (1985) Adhesins and colonization factors of *Escherichia coli*. *In:* Sussman, M.,(Ed) The Virulence of *Escherichia coli*, 1st edition, Academic Press, London. pp 79-155.

Patterson, T.F. and Andrriole, V.T. (1987) Bacteriuria in pregnancy. *Infect Dis Clin North* Am. 1, 807-822.

Pels, R.J., Bor, D.H., Woolhandler, S., Himmelstein, D.U. and Lawrence, R.S. (1989) Dipstick urinalysis screening of asymptomatic adults for urinary tract disorders. Bacteriuria. *JAMA*. **262**, 1221-1224.

Pupo, G.M., Lan, R. and Reeves, P.R. (2000) Multiple independent origins of Shigella clones of *Escherichia coli* and convergent evolution of many of their characteristics. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 97, 10567–10572.

Rabin, C., O'Leary, A., Neighbors, C. and Whitmore, K.E. (2000) Pain and depression experienced by women with interstitial cystitis. *Women & Health.* **31**, 67-81.

Reed, R. and Wegerhoff, F. (1995) Urinary tract infection in malnourished rural African children. *Annals of Tropical Paediatrics*. **15**, 21-26.

Reid, G. (2001) Probiotic agents to protect the urogenital tract against infection. Am J Clin Nutr. **73**, 437-443.

Riccabona, M. (2003) Urinary tract infections in children. *Current Opinion in Urology* **13**, 59-62.

Riegman, N., Kusters, R., van Veggel, H., Bergmans, H., van Bergen en Henegouwen, P., Hacker, J. and van Die, I. (1990) FlC fimbriae of a uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* strain: genetic and functional organization of the *foc* gene cluster and identification of minor subunits. *J. Bacteriol.* **172**, 1114-1120.

Rijavec, M., Muller-Premru, M., Zakotnik, B. and Zgur-Bertok, D. (2008) Virulence factors and biofilm production among *Escherichia coli* strains causing bacteraemia of urinary tract origin. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*. **57**, 1329–1334.

Riley, M.A. (1998) Molecular mechanisms of bacteriocin evolution. Annu Rev Genet. 32, 255-278.

Rizk, D.E., Mustafa, N. and Thomas, L. (2001) The prevalence of urinary tract infections in patients with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Int Urogynecol J.* **12**, 317-322.

Roberts, K. and Akintemi, B. (1999) The epidemiology and clinical presentation of urinary tract infections in children younger than 2 years of age. *Pediatric Annals.* **28**, 644.

Ronald, A. (2003). The etiology of urinary tract infection: traditional and emerging pathogens. *Dis Mon.* **49**, 71–82

Ruiz, J., Simon, K., Horcajada, J.P., Velasco, M., Barranco, M., Roig, G., Moreno-Martínez, A., Martínez, J.A., Jimenez de Anta, T., Mensa, J. and Vila, J. (2002) Differences in virulence factors among clinical isolates of *Escherichia coli* causing cystitis and pyelonephritis in women and prostatitis in Men. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **40**, 4445–4449

Sansonetti, P. (2002) Host–pathogen interactions: the seduction of molecular cross talk. *Gut.* **50**, Suppl. 3 S2–S8.

Santo, E., Macedo, C. and Marin, J.M. (2006) Virulence factors of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* from a university hospital in Ribeirao Preto, Sao Paulo, Brazil. *Rev. Inst. Med. trop. S. Paulo.* **48**, 185-188.

Schaible, U.E. and Kaufmann, S.H.E. (2004) Iron and microbial infection. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. **2**, 946-953.

Schalger, T.A. (2001) Urinary tract infections in children younger than 5 years of age. *Paediatric Drugs.* **3**, 219-227.

Schmidt, B.L. (1997) PCR in laboratory diagnosis of human *Borrelia burgdorferi* infections. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **10**, 185-201.

Scott, J.R., Whitehead, E.D. and Naghes, H.M. (1990) Dan Forty Obsetrics and Gynaecology. 6th ed. McGraw Hill, Boston. pp 60-80.

Sears, C.L. and Kaper, J.B. (1996) Enteric bacterial toxins: mechanisms of action and linkage to intestinal secretion. *Microbiol. Rev.* **60**, 167–215.

Shaw, K.N., Gorelick, M., McGowan, K.L., Yakscoe, N.M. and Schwartz, J.S. (1998) Prevalence of urinary tract infection in febrile young children in the emergency department. *Pediatrics*. **102**, 16.

Sheets, C. and Lyman, J.L. (1986) Urinalysis. Emerg Med Clin North Am. 4, 263-280.

Sheinfeld, J., Schaeffer, A.J., Cordon-Cardo, C., Rogatko, A. and Fair, W.R. (1989) Association of the Lewis blood-group phenotype with recurrent urinary tract infections in women. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **320**, 773–777.

Siegel, A.J., Hennekens, C.H., Solomon, H.S. and Van Boeckel, B. (1979) Exercise-related hematuria. Findings in a group of marathon runners. *JAMA*. **241**, 391-392.

Simerville, J.A., Maxted, W.C. and Pahira, J.J. (2005) Urinalysis: A comprehensive review. *Am Fam Physician.* **71**, 1153-1162.

Singh, B.K., Campbell, C.D., Sorenson, S.J. and Zhou, J. (2009) Soil genomics. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. **7**, 756.

Sotiropoulos, A., Skourtis, S., Merkouris, P., Peppas, T., Apostolou, O., Kontela, E., Skliros, E. and Pappas, S. (2005) Incidence and outcome of asymptomatic bacteriuria in females with Type 2 diabetes mellitus over a 1-year follow-up period and association with risk factors. *Diabet Med.* **22**, 1625-1626.

Spangler, B.D. (1992) Structure and function of cholera toxin and the related *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin. *Microbiol. Rev.* **56**, 622–647.

Stamm, W.E., Counts, G.W. and Running, K.R. (1982) Diagnosis of coliforms infection in acutely dysuric women. *New Engl. J. Med.* **307**: 463-468

Starčič-Erjavec, M., Križan-Hergouth, V., Gubina, B. and Žgur-Bertok, D. (2008) Prevalence of toxin encoding genes in *Escherichia coli* isolates from urinary tract infections in Slovenia. *Zdrav Vestn.* **77**, 427-432.

Stark, R.P. and Maki, D.G. (1984). Bacteriuria in the catheterized patient: what quantitative level of bacteriuria is relevant? *New Engl. J. Med.* **311**:560-564.

Steurer, J., Fischer, J.E., Bachman, L.M., Koller, M. and ter Riet, G. (2002) Communicating accuracy of tests to general practitioners; a controlled study. *BMJ*. **324**: 824-826.

Sweeney, N.J., Klemm, P., McCormick, B.A., Moller-Nielsen, E., Utley, M., Schembri, M.A., Laux, D.C. and Cohen, P.S. (1996) The *Escherichia coli* K-12 *gntP* gene allows *E. coli* F-18 to occupy a distinct nutritional niche in the streptomycin-treated mouse large intestine. *Infect. Immun.* **64**, 3497–3503.

Turpin, C.A., Minkah, B., Danso, K.A. and Frimpong, E.H. (2007) Asymptomatic bacteriuria in pregnant women attending antenatal clinic at Komfo Anokye Teaching Hospital, Kumasi, Ghana. *Ghana Medical Journal.* **41**, 26-29.

Vaisanen-Rhen, V., Korhonen, T.K. and Finne, J. (1983) Novel cell-binding activity specific for N-acetyl-D-glucosamine in an *Escherichia coli* strain. *Science*. **159**, 233-236.

Vaisanen, V., Korhonen, T.K., Jokinen, M., Gahmberg, C.G. and Ehnholm, C. (1982) Blood group M specific haemagglutinin in pyelonephritogenic *Escherichia coli. Lancet.* **1**, 1192.

van Die, I., Wauben, M., van Megen, I., Bergmans, H., Riegman, N., Hoekstra, W., Pouwels, P. and Enger-Valk, B. (1988) Genetic manipulation of major P-Fimbrial subunits and consequences for formation of fimbriae. *Journal of Bacteriology*. **170**, 5870-5876.

WHO (2005) Department of Child and Adolescent Health and Development; Urinary Tract Infections in Infants and Children in Developing Countries in the Context of IMCI. 1-24.

Wagner, W., Kuhn, M. and Goebel, W. (1988) Active and inactive forms of hemolysin (*HlyA*) from *Escherichia coli*. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler*. **369**, 39-46.

Wiggelinkhuizen, J., Maytham, D. and Hanslo, D.H. (1988) Dipstick screening for urinary tract infections. *South African Medical Journal.* **74**, 224-228.

Williams, P.H. and Carbonetti, N.H. (1986) Iron, siderophores, and the pursuit of virulence: independence of the aerobactin and enterochelin iron uptake systems in *Escherichia coli*. *Infect. Immun.* **51**, 942-947.

Williams, S.G., Varcoe, L.T., Attridge, S.R. and Manning, P.A. (1996) *Vibrio cholerae* Hcp, a secreted protein coregulated with HlyA. *Infect Immun.* **64**, 283-289.

Wiswell, T. (2000) The prepuce, urinary tract infections, and the consequences. *Pediatrics*. **105**, 860-862.

Wiswell, T.E. and Roscelli, J.D. (1986) Corroborative evidence for the decreased incidence of urinary tract infections in circumcised male infants. *Pediatrics*. **78**, 96–99.

J SANE NO

Wold, A.E., Thorssen, M., Hull, S. and Eden, C.S. (1988) Attachment of *Escherichia coli* via mannose- or Gal a 1-4Gal,B-containing receptors to human colonic epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* **56**, 2531-2537.

Woolhandler, S., Pels, R.J., Bor, D.H., Himmelstein, D.U. and Lawrence, R.S. (1989) Dipstick urinalysis screening of asymptomatic adults for urinary tract disorders. Hematuria and proteinuria. *JAMA*. **262**, 1214-1219.

Yamamoto, S., Nakano, M., Terai, A., Yuri, K., Nakata, K., Nair, G.B., Kurazono, H. and Ogawa, O. (2001) The presence of the virulence island containing the *USP* gene in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* is associated with urinary tract infection in an experimental mouse model. *J Urol.* **165**, 1347-1351.

Yamamoto, Y. (2002) PCR in Diagnosis of Infection: Detection of Bacteria in Cerebrospinal Fluids. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*. **9**, 508-514.

Zorc, J.J., Kiddoo, D.A. and Shaw, K.N. (2005) Diagnosis and Management of Pediatric Urinary Tract Infections. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*. **18**, 417-422.

Zweig, M.H. and Campbell, G. (1993) Receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) plots: A fundamental evaluation tool in clinical medicine. *Clin Chem.* **39**: 561-577.



APPENDICES

Appendix I

Table A1. Materials/equipment

EQUIPMENT/REAGENT	MANUFACTURER/MODEL	COUNTRY
Incubator	Marius Instrumenten	Netherlands
Laminar flow cabinet	Gelaire BSB6	Germany
Ice-maker	Scotsman AF 10 AE 0600	Italy
Water bath	Salm & Kipp	Germany
Centrifuge	Eppendorf 5424	South Africa
Thermal cycler	Eppendorf Mastercycler	Germany
High performance Ultraviolet Transilluminator	TFM-26	U.S.A.
Autoclave	Yamato Sterilizer SM510	Japan
Kovac's Indole reagent	Mercks	Germany
PCR Premix	Bioneer	South Korea
MacConkey broth	Oxoid Limited, Basingstoke New Hampshire	England
Tryptophan	Scharlau Chemie S.A.	Spain
Salmonella Shigella Agar (SS agar)	Oxoid Limited, Basingstoke New Hampshire	England
Digital camera (12.5 megapixels)	Samsung	Republic of Korea

Appendix II

Questionnaire

COMPARATIVE DIAGNOSIS OF URINARY TRACT INFECTION BY *ESCHERICHIA COLI* USING DIPSTICK, CULTURE AND PCR IN SCHOOL-GOING ADOLESCENTS.

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR VOLUNTEERS

PERSONAL DATA	

NAME:		SEX:	CODE:
AGE: Years.		ICT	
RESIDENTIAL LOCATION:			
PARTICIPANT'S HISTORY			
1. Have you been asked to have urine test be	efore?		
Yes No			
2. When was it?			
3. What treatment was given to you?			
4. How many times do you urinate in a day?			
5. Have there been cases where you have no	oticed changes in	your urination in th	he following ways
(i) Increased frequency	Yes	No 🗌	
(ii) Decreased frequency	Yes	No 🗌	
(iii) Pain	Yes	No 📃	
(iv)Urgency	Yes	No 🗌	
(v) Hesitancy	Yes	No 🗌	
(vi) Blood (not due to menses in girls)	Yes	No	
(vii) Urine retention	Yes	No 🗌	
(viii) Discharge	Yes	No 🗌	
6. Have you had any of the above together w	with abdominal pa	ain and fever? Y	es No



Table B1. Column statistics for ages of sub-population used in the analysis of dipstick, culture and PCR

Figure A1. Age distribution of positive UTI detections using dipstick, culture and PCR.

ANOVA Table	SS	df	MS	p value
Treatment (between columns)	841	2	420.5	0.0258
Residual (within columns)	1338	15	89.17	
Total	2179	17		
Newman-Keuls Multiple Comparison Test	Mean Diff.	q	Significant? P < 0.05?	Summary
Dipstick vs PCR	-14.5	3.761	Yes	*
Dipstick vs Culture	0	0	No	ns
Culture vs PCR	-14.5	3.761	Yes	*

Table C1. One-Way Analysis of Variance for the number of positive detections from dipstick, culture and PCR methods. *= *significant*

Table D Distribution of amplified virulence genes

1					
Virulence gene	Total No. of Positiv	ves	Male	es Fema	les
<i>pap-C</i> only	76		47	29	
usp only	103		54	49	
pap-C and usp	36		22	14	
pap-C or usp	149	SE'	85	64	<
	1	r.L	~	The second	
2usp gene and usp	p+papCgenes	~	3		
Fisher's exact test		2	2		
P value		< 0.00	01		
P value summary		***			
	ZW.	Two-			
One- or two-sided	1	sided			
Statistically signif	ficant? (alpha<0.05)	Yes			
Data analyza 1					Tatal
Data analyzed		usp		usp+papC	Total
Row 1			103	36	139
Row 2			46	113	159
Total			149	149	298

papC and *usp* genes

Fisher's exact test			
P value	0.002		
P value summary	**		
One- or two-sided	Two- sided		
Statistically significant? (alpha<0.05)	Yes		
Data analyzed	papC	usp	Total
Row 1	76	103	179
Row 2	73	46	119
Total	149	149	298

E. Area under the Receiver Operator Characteristic curves

1. Culture (Control) and PCR (Test)			
Area	0.7231		
Std. Error	0.0262		
95% confidence interval	0.6717 to 0.7744		
P value	< 0.0001		
Data			
Controls (CULTURE)	195		
Patients (PCR)	195		
Missing Controls	0		
Missing Patients	0		
2. PCR (Control) and Dipstick (Test)			

2. PCR (Control) and Dipstick (Test)			
Area	0.7205		
Std. Error	0.02627		
95% confidence interval	0.6690 to 0.7720		
P value	< 0.0001		
Data			
Controls (PCR)	195		
Patients (DIPSTICK)	195		
Missing Controls	0		
Missing Patients	0		

Area	0.5026
Std. Error	0.02927
95% confidence interval	0.4452 to 0.5600
P value	0.9302
Data	
Controls (CULTURE)	195
Patients (DIPSTICK)	195
Missing Controls	0
Missing Patients	0

3.Culture (Control) and Dipstick (Test)

F. 2 x 2 contingency tables for sensitivity and specificity

1.			
Leukocyte esterase			
Fisher's exact test			
	0.0007		
P value	0.0007		
P value summary	***		
One- or two-sided	Two-sided		
Statistically significant?			
(alpha<0.05)	Yes		
Data analyzed	Sensitivity	Specificity	Total
Row 1	52	76	128
Row 2	48	24	72
Total	100	100	200
2.			
Nitrite			2
Fisher's exact test		S	*/
Develop	(0.0001		
P value	< 0.0001		
P value summary	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
One- or two-sided	I wo-sided		
Statistically significant?	• •		
(alpha<0.05)	Yes		
Data analyzed	Sensitivity	Specificity	Total
Row 1	3	99	102
Row 2	97	1	98
Total	100	100	200

3.

PCR			
Fisher's exact test			
P value	< 0.0001		
P value summary	***		
	Two-		
One- or two-sided	sided		
Statistically significant?			
(alpha<0.05)	Yes		
Data analyzed	sensitivity	specificity	Total
PCR	71	24	95
Row 2	29	76	105
Total	100	100	200

Table G1. Chi-square analysis for difference in sensitivity and specificity between leukocyte esterase, nitrite and PCR. [*=*significant*]

Chi-square, df	107.1, 2
P value	< 0.0001
P value summary	***
One- or two-sided	NA
Statistically significant? (alpha<0.05)	Yes
Data analyzed	
Number of rows	3
Number of columns	2
W CORMIN	